University of Alberta

TRANSMIT ANTENNA SELECTION USING ORTHOGONAL SPACE-TIME BLOCK CODES

by



A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of **Master of Science**

Department of Electrical and Computer Engineering

Edmonton, Alberta Spring 2007

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-29977-7 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-29977-7

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis. Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.



to my parents, Tajedin Kaviani and Zahra Khoshnoudrad, for their endless encouragement, love and support

Abstract

Multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) systems that use multiple antennas can significantly improve the reliability and data rate of wireless communications. MIMO systems use space-time coding techniques such as orthogonal space-time block codes (OSTBCs). However, the use of multiple antenna increases the complexity of both the transmitter and the receiver. Antenna selection is a scheme to reduce the system complexity and cost and uses a low-rate feedback channel from receiver to transmitter to improve the performance.

In this thesis, we derive the bit error rate (BER) of OSTBCs with antenna selection for independent and receive correlated Rayleigh channels. Pulse amplitude modulation (PAM), quadrature amplitude modulation (QAM), and pulse shift keying (PSK) constellations are used in OSTBCs. We provide a novel analytical framework for the diversity analysis and approximation of BER to show approximations for BER expressions. As a conclusion the system achieves full diversity order when transmit antenna selection scheme is used.

Acknowledgements

I would like to start by thanking God for all the blessings in my life. I thank my parents for their endless encouragement, love and support. I am deeply indebted to my supervisor Professor Chintha Tellambura for his helps, supports, instructions and advices in all the time of research. His kind and genuine care for his students is really notable and makes him an special supervisor.

I am grateful to my committee members, Dr. Masoud Ardakani, Dr. Byron Schmuland for reading the thesis carefully and giving thoughtful comments.

I would like to thank all the graduate students and the staffs of the information Circle of Research Excellence (iCORE) Wireless Communications Laboratory. I wish to extend my warmest thanks to all those who have helped me with my work in the Electrical and Computer Engineering research facility (ECERF) at University of Alberta in Canada.

My warm thanks are due to my friends and colleagues, Mahdi Hajiaghayi and Alireza Ghaderipoor, for their helps and advices. I also wish to thank my other colleagues Yu Fu, Luqing Wang, Dung Ngoc Dao, Yue Wu, Nancy Deng, Wei Zhang, Mehtaz Sharmin and Khoa Phan Tran for all their helps and making a friendly atmosphere in the office.

Again, Most of all thanks to God the Divine who continues to make the impossible possible.

Contents

1	Intr	Introduction 1	
	1.1	MIMO Wireless Systems	1
	1.2	Antenna Selection	2
	1.3	Contribution of this thesis	3
2	Bac	kground	5
	2.1	Notation	5
	2.2	System Model	6
	2.3	Fundamentals of Digital Communications	8
	2.4	Performance over MIMO channel	2
		2.4.1 Approximate BER for M-ary PSK	.3
	2.5	Diversity and Coding Gains	.3
2.6 Orthogonal Space-time Block Codes		Orthogonal Space-time Block Codes	.4
	2.7	Spatial-Multiplexing 1	8
		2.7.1 ML receiver	9
		2.7.2 Sphere decoding	9
		2.7.3 V-BLAST	!1
	2.8	Channel Capacity	2
		2.8.1 Channel capacity for Single-user system	2
		2.8.2 Capacity of system with Multiple Antennas 2	3
	2.9	Some useful probability preliminaries	3
	2.10	Summary	8

3	Ant	tenna Selection	29
	3.1	Introduction	29
	3.2	Receive Antenna Selection	31
	3.3	Transmit Antenna Selection	32
	3.4	Antenna Selection based on Capacity Maximization $\ . \ . \ .$.	34
		3.4.1 Antenna Selection for OSTBCs	35
	3.5	Summary	36
4	Per	formance of OSTBCs over Transmit Antenna Selection	37
	4.1	System Model	37
	4.2	The received SNR	38
	4.3	BER Expressions	40
		4.3.1 M -ary PAM and QAM \ldots	40
		4.3.2 <i>M</i> -ary PSK	43
	4.4	Asymptotic performance Analysis	43
	4.5	Numerical Results	46
	4.6	Conclusion	47
5	Per	formance of OSTBCs over Transmit Antenna Selection in	L
	Rec	ceive Correlated Channels	50
	5.1	System Model	51
	5.2	The received SNR	51
		5.2.1 Constant Correlation Model	55
		5.2.2 Tridiagonal Correlation Model	57
		5.2.3 Exponential Correlation Model	59
	5.3	BER expressions	59
		5.3.1 <i>M</i> -ary PAM and QAM \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	59
		5.3.2 M -PSK	60
	5.4	Asymptotic Performance Analysis	60
	5.5	$Conclusion \dots \dots$	63

6 Conclusions and Future Work

.

67

List of Figures

2.1	MIMO Channel Model	7
2.2	Generic transmitter	8
2.3	4-PAM signal constellation Gray Mapping.	9
2.4	16-QAM signal constellation Gray Mapping	9
2.5	8-PSK signal constellation with Gray Mapping.	10
2.6	Diversity order and Coding gain in the plot of probability of error	13
2.7	Alamouti Scheme with 2 transmit antenna and 1 receive antenna	15
2.8	BER performance of OSTBCs using 16-QAM	18
3.1 3.2	MIMO antenna selection system	30 32
4.1	MIMO OSTBC with transmit antenna selection	38
4.2	OSTBC MIMO system is equivalent to Q independent SISO	
	systems	39
4.3	MIMO system using OSTBC of rate $3/4$ and 3 transmit antenna	
	selected	47
4.4	Comparison between exact BER for $(L_t, N; L_r)$ systems, select-	
	ing optimal N transmit antennas out of L_t with L_r antennas in	
	receiver, using 16-QAM and approximations derived in (4.32)	
	and (4.35) and diversity and coding gain approximated BER in	
	(4.35)	48

4.5	Exact BER derived in (5.45) for $(L_t; N, L_r)$ transmit antenna	
	selection systems, using 16-QAM	49
5.1	MIMO system using OSTBC over Transmit antenna selection	
	in Rayleigh flat fading channel with receive correlation \mathbf{R}_r	50
5.2	Comparison between the exact expression, approximation and	
	simulation for $N = 2$ transmit antenna selection out of $L_t = 3, 4$	
	with $L_r = 2$ correlated receive antennas, 16-QAM	64
5.3	Comparison of the performance between different correlation	
	parameter r for $N = 2$ transmit antenna selection out of $L_t = 3$	
	with $L_r = 2$ correlated receive antennas, 16-QAM	65
5.4	Comparison between different correlation parameter r for ${\cal N}=2$	
	transmit antenna selection out of $L_t = 3$ with $L_r = 2$ correlated	
	receive antennas and two approximation of performance, using	
	16-QAM constellations	66

List of Notations

a	the scalar a
а	the vector \mathbf{a}
А	the matrix \mathbf{A}
$\operatorname{vec}(\mathbf{A})$	the operation stacks columns of A to one column vector
$(\cdot)^{\hat{H}}$	the conjugate transpose (Hermitian)
Î. ∥	the vector Euclidean norm
$\ \cdot\ _F$	the matrix Frobenius norm
$(\cdot)^*$	the complex conjugate
$\mathbf{A}^{1/2}$	the Hermitian square root of \mathbf{A}
$\mathcal{CN}(\mu,\sigma^2)$	the circularly symmetric complex Gaussian variable with mean
	μ and variance σ^2
$\mathcal{N}(\mu,\sigma^2)$	the Gaussian random variable with mean μ and variance σ^2
$\log_2(x)$	the base-2 logarithm of x
$\log(x)$	the natural logarithm of x
$\binom{j}{i_1,\ldots,i_n}$	$\frac{j!}{i_1!\cdots i_n!}$
$\binom{j}{i}$	$\overline{i!(j-i)!}$
\otimes	the Kronecker product
\mathbb{C}^m	the m -dimensional complex vector space
$\mathbb{C}^{m imes n}$	the set of $m \times n$ complex matrices
$\mathcal{E}_y[\cdot]$	statistical expectation over y
L_t	the number of transmit antennas
L_r	the number of receive antennas
N	the number of transmit antennas selected
R_s	the code rate
Q	the number of input symbols
T	the number of time slots
N_0	noise variance
ho	the signal to noise ratio (SNR) per symbol
E_b	the bit energy
E_s	the symbol energy

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

P_b	the bit error probability
G_c	the coding gain
G_d	the diversity order
$\mathcal{Q}(\cdot)$	the Gaussian Q -function
$\mathcal{Q}_m(lpha,eta)$	generalized Marcum's \mathcal{Q} function
$\operatorname{erf}(\cdot)$	the Gaussian error function
$f_x(x)$	the probability density function (pdf) of x
$F_x(x)$	the cumulative density function (cdf) of x
$\Phi_x(s)$	the moment generating function (MGF) of x
γ_b	the SNR per bit
M	the size of the signal constellation
${\mathcal S}$	the symbol constellation
Ι	the identity matrix
$\delta_{i,j}$	the Kronecker delta function is zero except when $i = j$ equal to 1
\mathbf{R}_r	the receive correlation matrix
H	the channel matrix
λ	the eigenvalue of a matrix
C	the channel capacity
$\Gamma(\cdot)$	the gamma function
$rg\max$	the argument of the maximum
$\mathcal{L}_x[f(x)](s)$	the Laplace transform of $f(x)$
$\mathcal{L}_x^{-1}[\Phi(s)](x)$	the inverse Laplace transform of $\Phi(s)$

Abbreviations

ADC	analog to digital converter
AWGN	additive white Gaussian noise
BER	bit error rate
BPSK	binary pulse shift keying
CSI	channel-side information
cdf	cumulative density function
DAC	Digital to Analog converter
EGC	equal gain combining
GSC	generalized selection combining
iid	independent and identically distributed
LNA	low noise amplifier
LOS	line of sight
MGF	moment generating function
MIMO	multiple-input multiple-output
ML	maximum likelihood
MMSE	minimum mean square error
MRC	maximal ratio combining
NLOS	non line of sight
OSTBC	orthogonal space-time block code
PAM	pulse amplitude modulation
pdf	probability density function
PSK	pulse shift keying
QAM	quadrature amplitude modulation
RF	radio frequency
SER	symbol error rate
SISO	single input single output
SNR	signal to noise ratio
STBC	space-time block code
V-BLAST	vertical bell laboratories layered space-time
ZF	zero-forcing

Chapter 1 Introduction

Section 1.1 gives a general introduction to multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) wireless systems. Antenna selection techniques are briefly summarized in Section 1.2. The contributions and the organization of the remaining chapters can be found in Section 1.3.

1.1 MIMO Wireless Systems

The increasing demand for high data rates due to emerging new technologies makes wireless communications an exciting and challenging field. Wireless multiple-input multiple-output (MIMO) systems, which employ multiple antennas at both the transmitter and receiver, improve the reliability and achieve larger data rates in comparison to systems that employ single antennas at the transmitter and receiver ends [1], [2].

Wireless links are impaired by random signal fluctuations known as *fading. Diversity* provides the receiver with multiple (ideally independent) fading replicas of the transmitted signal and is therefore a powerful solution to combat fading. Diversity may be achieved using multiple transmit and/or receive antennas.

Space-time codes [3–6] are capable of extracting spatial diversity order in MIMO systems without requiring channel knowledge at the transmitter. Or-

thogonal space-time block codes (OSTBCs) [4], [5], [7], are particularly attractive since they yield the maximum spatial diversity order and, at the same time, decouple the MIMO signal vector detection into a number of equivalent Single-Input Single-Output (SISO) systems with scalar detection, thereby significantly reducing decoding complexity (at the expense of spatial transmission rate).

1.2 Antenna Selection

For practical applications, the cost and the complexity of MIMO systems are significant because of the large number of radio frequency (RF) chains required for every active transmit/receive antenna pair. An RF chain comprises low noise amplifiers, frequency down/up converters, a power amplifier, analogto-digital/digital-to-analog converters, and several filters, all of which clearly increases the implementation costs. This increase has hindered the wide deployment of MIMO systems. For example, the third-generation cellular system (3GPP) supports the Alamouti transmit diversity scheme [4,8] with only two transmit and one receive antenna as an option. Also in the IEEE 802.16 standard, known as WiMax [9], only the Alamouti scheme is offered as an option.

In the next-generation of wireless standards, where MIMO adoption is needed for higher data rates, complexity issues have led many researchers to develop methods that can reduce the implementation cost and retain the benefits of MIMO systems. Antenna selection, which seeks the utilization of a subset of all available antennas at the transmitter and/or receiver, is such a technique [10] and [11]. Selecting a subset of antennas at the transmitter or the receiver is called *transmit antenna selection* or *receive antenna selection*, respectively.

1.3 Contribution of this thesis

In this thesis we provide a general, exact closed-form BER analysis of transmit antenna selection and OSTBCs for Independent and correlated fading channels.

- The exact BER for *M*-ary PAM and QAM is derived for arbitrary $N \ge 2$ transmit antenna selection employing OSTBCs. An approximate BER expression for *M*-PSK is also derived.
- The moment generating function (MGF) of N largest instantaneous signal-to-noise ratios (SNRs) is derived in [12] but for the generalized selection combining (GSC) scheme. Using this MGF for the transmit antenna selection scheme, we derive the exact and approximate BER expressions.
- Using the asymptotic analysis, the diversity and coding gain of the system are derived. It is shown that full diversity order is achieved through transmit antenna selection using OSTBCs.
- The closed-form results and approximations can be computed much faster than computer simulations and numerical methods of analysis of performance.
- The performance problem is complicated because the analysis requires the statistics of the ordered random variables. Although mathematical and engineering literature has several thousands papers on order statistics of independent random variables, very few results are available on the order statistics of correlated random variables. As a result no performance analysis is available on transmit antenna selection over correlated channels. However, we analyze the performance for receive antenna selection over correlated channels.

Chapter 2 reviews the background and preliminaries for the whole thesis. Chapter 3 presents the antenna selection criteria. The performance of transmit antenna selection using OSTBCs in the independent Rayleigh fading channels is discussed in chapter 4. In Chapter 5, the performance of OSTBCs with transmit antenna selection in receive correlated Rayleigh fading channels is analyzed. Chapter 6 concludes the thesis.

Chapter 2 Background

Section 2.1 overviews the mathematical notation used throughout the thesis. The MIMO system model is presented in Section 2.2. Fundamentals of digital communications are reviewed in Section 2.3. Section 2.6 overviews OS-TBCs. Spatial multiplexing is discussed in Section 2.7. Section 2.4 reviews the Performance analysis methods for different M-ary signal constellations in MIMO systems. Diversity order and Coding gains are introduced in Section 2.5 for subsequent asymptotic performance analysis. Section 2.8 provides an overview on channel capacity. Finally, some useful probability preliminaries are presented in Section 2.9.

2.1 Notation

This thesis uses $\|\cdot\|_F$ for the matrix Frobenius norm (i.e. $\|\mathbf{H}\|_F = \sum_k \sum_l |h_{k,l}|^2$). The Euclidean norm for vector **h** of length *n* is $\|\mathbf{h}\| = (h_1^2 + ... + h_n^2)^{1/2}$. \mathbb{C}^m and $\mathbb{C}^{m \times n}$ are used to refer to the *m*-dimensional complex vector space and the set of $m \times n$ complex matrices, respectively. The conjugate transposition operator is given by H which is also known as Hermitian operator. The determinant is represented by det(·). The operator vec(·) stacks the columns of a matrix into one column vector. The operator \otimes is the Kronecker product.

A circularly symmetric complex Gaussian variable with mean μ and vari-

ance σ^2 is denoted by $z \sim C\mathcal{N}(\mu, \sigma^2)$. $\mathcal{E}_y[\cdot]$ is used to denote expectation with respect to y. The floor of a number is returned by $\lfloor \cdot \rfloor$. δ_{ij} is the Kronecker delta function.

2.2 System Model

We consider a wireless communication system with L_t transmit and L_r receive antennas. Let $\mathbf{H} \in \mathbb{C}^{L_r \times L_t}$ be the channel matrix. The quasi-static flat Rayleigh fading MIMO channel for this system can be represented as [6]

$$\mathbf{H} = \begin{bmatrix} h_{1,1} & h_{1,2} & \cdots & h_{L_t,1} \\ h_{2,1} & & & \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ h_{L_r,1} & h_{L_r,2} & \cdots & h_{L_r,L_t} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.1)

where $h_{i,j}$ is the path gain between transmit antenna j and receive antenna i. The entries of \mathbf{H} are $\mathcal{CN}(0, 1)$ with positive semi-definite autocorrelation given by $\mathbf{R} = \mathcal{E}\{\operatorname{vec}(\mathbf{H}) \operatorname{vec}^{H}(\mathbf{H})\}$ of size $L_{t}L_{r} \times L_{t}L_{r}$. The channel \mathbf{H} is known at the receiver while it is unknown at the transmitter. A limited-rate feedback channel from the receiver to transmitter is available. The receiver uses this channel to inform the transmitter about the selected antennas. N transmit antennas out of L_{t} are selected and activated for the transmission of OSTBC signal matrices, while the rest are inactive.

In the presence of a line of sight (LOS) component between the transmitter and receiver, the MIMO channel can be modeled as sum of a zero mean complex gaussian channel and a fixed component [6],

$$\mathbf{H} = \sqrt{\frac{K}{1+K}} \mathbf{\bar{H}} + \sqrt{\frac{1}{1+K}} \mathbf{H}_w$$
(2.2)

where $\sqrt{K/(1+K)}\mathbf{H} = \mathcal{E}[\mathbf{H}]$ is the fixed LOS component of the channel and $\sqrt{1/(1+K)}\mathbf{H}_w$ is the fading component where \mathbf{H}_w is spatially white complex Gaussian channel matrix. The entries of $\mathbf{\bar{H}}$ are assumed to have unit power.



Figure 2.1: MIMO Channel Model

K is the Rician K-factor of the MIMO system. When K = 0, the channel reduces to the conventional Rayleigh fading channel.

In the Kronecker model for the correlated channels, the channel matrix is modeled as the product of the receive correlation matrix, an independent identically distributed (i.i.d.) complex Gaussian matrix, and the transmit correlation matrix [13]

$$\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{R}_r^{1/2} \mathbf{H}_w \mathbf{R}_t^{1/2} \tag{2.3}$$

where \mathbf{H}_w is a $L_r \times L_t$ matrix with i.i.d. circular complex Gaussian elements with mean zero and variance one, \mathbf{R}_t and \mathbf{R}_r are the transmit and receiver correlation matrices $\mathbf{R}_r = \mathcal{E} \{\mathbf{h}_i \mathbf{h}_i^H\}$ $(i = 1, 2, ..., L_t)$ [6]. Thus total correlation matrix \mathbf{R} is given by

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{R}_t^T \otimes \mathbf{R}_r. \tag{2.4}$$

The Kronecker model has been verified for non Line of sight (NLOS) [14], [15]. However, the accuracy of model has been questioned recently in large antenna arrays [16].

Suppose an OSTBC is transmitted over the channel given in (2.1). The received signals are expressed as

$$\mathbf{Y} = \sqrt{\frac{E_s}{N}} \tilde{\mathbf{H}} \mathbf{X} + \mathbf{V}$$
(2.5)

where the matrix $\mathbf{Y} \in \mathbb{C}^{L_r \times T}$ is the complex received matrix, $\tilde{\mathbf{H}}$ is a submatrix of \mathbf{H} , $\mathbf{X} \in \mathbb{C}^{N \times T}$ is the complex transmitted matrix and $\mathbf{V} \in \mathbb{C}^{L_r \times T}$ is the additive noise matrix with independent and identical distributed entries of $\mathcal{CN}(0, N_0)$. The coefficient $\sqrt{E_s/N}$ ensures that the total transmitted power in each channel use is E_s and independent of number of transmit antennas. Since T symbol periods are necessary to transmit Q symbols, the symbol rate R_s of the STBC is defined as $R_s = Q/T$.

2.3 Fundamentals of Digital Communications

Fig. 2.2 shows the generic transmitter. The original message is in form of a digital sequence of bits which is generated by an information source. The channel encoder adds redundant bits in order to detect/correct transmission errors.

The digital modulator maps the message bits into symbols from a constellation S. Figures 2.3, 2.4, and 2.5 illustrate several popular signal constellations.

M-ary pulse amplitude modulation (M-PAM) can be expressed as

$$s(t) = A_M \cos 2\pi f_c t, \quad 0 \le t \le \tau \tag{2.6}$$

where A_M is the signal amplitude of the in-phase component, f_c is the carrier frequency, and τ is the symbol time duration. In *M*-PAM, $\log_2 M$ bits of data



Figure 2.2: Generic transmitter

are used to select from the set $\{\pm d, \pm 3d, \ldots, \pm (M-1)d\}$, where 2d is the minimum distance [17] and is related to the bit energy E_b as

$$d = \sqrt{\frac{3\log_2 M \cdot E_b}{(M^2 - 1)}}.$$
 (2.7)

M-ary Quadrature Amplitude Modulation signals are represented as

$$s(t) = A_M \cos 2\pi f_c t - \hat{A}_M \sin 2\pi f_c t, \quad 0 \le t \le \tau$$
 (2.8)

where $A_M + j\hat{A}_M$ is the corresponding signal point as it is shown for the 16-QAM in Figure 2.4. The in-phase amplitude A_M and the quadrature amplitude \bar{A}_M are selected from the set $\{\pm d, \pm 3d, \ldots, \pm (M-1)d\}$, where 2d is the minimum distance between signal and is related to the bit energy E_b same as (2.7) for the M^2 -QAM signal constellation.

For phase shift keying (PSK) or phase pulse modulation, the signals are



Figure 2.3: 4-PAM signal constellation Gray Mapping.



Figure 2.4: 16-QAM signal constellation Gray Mapping.

represented as

$$s(t) = \cos\left(2\pi f_c t + \frac{2\pi}{M}(m-1)\right), \qquad m = 1, 2, ..., M, \quad 0 \le t \le \tau$$
 (2.9)

where d is the minimum distance between signal points for M-PSK constellation and is related to the bit energy E_b as

$$d = 2\sin\left(\frac{\pi}{M}\right)\sqrt{\log_2 M \cdot E_b}.$$
(2.10)

The mapping of $\log_2 M$ data bits to the M possible signals may be done such that the labels of the adjacent signal points differ by one bit. Such a mapping is called *Gray Mapping* and is illustrated in Figures 2.3, 2.4 and 2.5.

Coded modulations based on Gray mapping may employ only one binary component code. The theory of bit-interleaved coded modulation was developed in [18]. The performance of coded modulation over a Rayleigh fading channel can be improved by bit-wise interleaving at the encoder output but not considered in this thesis. However, Gray mapping offers excellent performance in the AWGN channel [18].

With Gray mapping and zero-mean additive white Gaussian noise (AWGN) channel, the exact BER of the *n*-th bit for *M*-PAM constellation is given by [19]

$$P_b(n) = \frac{2}{M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_n} B_i \mathcal{Q}\left(D_i \sqrt{\gamma_b(\rho)}\right)$$
(2.11)



Figure 2.5: 8-PSK signal constellation with Gray Mapping.

10

where the Q-function is defined as

$$\mathcal{Q}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_x^\infty e^{-\frac{t^2}{2}} dt, \quad x \ge 0$$
$$= \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \exp\left(-\frac{x^2}{2\sin^2\theta}\right) d\theta, \quad (2.12)$$

and the parameters of the sum are given as

$$k_n = (1 - \frac{1}{2^n})M - 1 \tag{2.13a}$$

$$B_{i} = (-1)^{\left\lfloor \frac{i \cdot 2^{n-1}}{M} \right\rfloor} \left(2^{n-1} - \left\lfloor \frac{i \cdot 2^{n-1}}{M} + \frac{1}{2} \right\rfloor \right)$$
(2.13b)

$$D_i = (2i+1)\sqrt{\frac{6\log_2 M}{M^2 - 1}}.$$
 (2.13c)

The SNR per symbol, ρ , is defined from the bit energy E_b and the symbol energy E_s as

$$\rho = \frac{E_s}{N_0} = \frac{\log_2 M \cdot E_b}{N_0}.$$
(2.14)

The SNR per bit γ_b which depends on the rate of the code used for transmission, will be defined later in this thesis.

Finally, the exact average BER of arbitrary M-PAM can be obtained by adding all bit error probabilities and normalizing by the total bits. That is,

$$P_M^{\text{PAM}} = \frac{1}{\log_2 M} \sum_{n=1}^{\log_2 M} P_b(n).$$
 (2.15)

A rectangular or square QAM constellations can be decomposed to two independent PAM constellations: *I*-ary PAM for the in-phase component and *J*-ary PAM for the quadrature component, where $M = I \times J$. Thus, the exact average BER of *M*-QAM is given by

$$P_M^{\text{QAM}} = \frac{1}{\log_2(I.J)} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\log_2 I} P_I(n) + \sum_{m=1}^{\log_2 J} P_J(m) \right).$$
(2.16)

A tight approximation for the BER of the coherent M-ary PSK in AWGN channels is given by [20]

$$P_M^{\text{PSK}}(\rho) \simeq \frac{2}{\max(\log_2 M, 2)} \sum_{i=1}^{\max(M/4, 1)} \mathcal{Q}\left(\sqrt{2\sin^2 \frac{(2i-1)\pi}{M}\gamma_b(\rho)}\right). \quad (2.17)$$

2.4 Performance over MIMO channel

Section (2.3) shows the BER for M-PAM signal constellation using the Gray mapping over an AWGN channel. Since the MIMO channel is a random matrix, we take the expectation with respect to the channel from the BER expression for AWGN in (2.11):

$$P_{M}(n;\rho) = \frac{2}{M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}} B_{i} \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{H}} \left[\mathcal{Q} \left(D_{i} \sqrt{\gamma_{b}(\rho)} \right) \right]$$

$$= \frac{2}{M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}} B_{i} \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{H}} \left[\frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi/2} e^{-\frac{D_{i}^{2}}{2\sin^{2}\theta}\gamma_{b}} d\theta \right]$$

$$= \frac{2}{M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}} B_{i} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{D_{i}^{2}}{2\sin^{2}\gamma_{b}}} f_{\gamma_{b}}(\gamma_{b}) d\gamma_{b} d\theta$$

$$= \frac{2}{M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}} B_{i} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \Phi_{\gamma_{b}} \left(-\frac{D_{i}^{2}}{2\sin^{2}\theta} \right) d\theta \qquad (2.18)$$

where $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{H}}[\cdot]$ is expectation over all channel matrices and we have used

$$Q(x) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi/2} e^{-\frac{x^2}{2\sin^2\theta}} d\theta$$
 (2.19)

to obtain the above formula in respect to MGF of γ_b .

The exact average BER of an OSTBC for M-PAM in fading is given by

$$P_M(\rho) = \frac{1}{\log_2 M} \sum_{n=1}^{\log_2 M} P_M(n;\rho).$$
(2.20)

Note that a rectangular or square QAM constellations can be decomposed to two independent PAM constellations: *I*-ary PAM for the in-phase component and *J*-ary PAM for the quadrature component, where $M = I \times J$. Thus, the exact average BER of *M*-QAM is given by

$$P_M(\rho) = \frac{1}{\log_2(I.J)} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\log_2 I} P_I(n;\rho) + \sum_{m=1}^{\log_2 J} P_J(m;\rho) \right).$$
(2.21)



Figure 2.6: Diversity order and Coding gain in the plot of probability of error

2.4.1 Approximate BER for M-ary PSK

By taking the expectation of (2.17) similar to the derivation in (2.18), the approximate BER for *M*-PSK and over MIMO channel is given by

$$P_M(\rho) \simeq \frac{2}{\max(\log_2 M, 2)} \sum_{i=1}^{\max(M/4, 1)} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi/2} \Phi_{\gamma_b} \left(-\frac{\sin^2 \frac{(2i-1)\pi}{M}}{\sin^2 \theta} \right) d\theta. \quad (2.22)$$

2.5 Diversity and Coding Gains

A system is said to have a diversity order (also called diversity gain) of G_d if

$$G_d = -\lim_{E_s/N_0 \to \infty} \frac{\log P_M}{\log(E_s/N_0)}.$$
(2.23)

The average BER at high SNR may be approximated by the expression

$$P_M(\rho) \approx (G_c \cdot \rho)^{-G_d} \tag{2.24}$$

where G_c is the coding gain, and G_d is the diversity order. The diversity order determines the slope of the average BER curve versus the average SNR ρ at high SNR in a log-log scale, whereas the coding gain (in decibel) determines the shift of the curve in SNR relative to a BER curve given by (ρ^{-G_d}) .

In [21], Wang and Giannakis develop a simple and general method to quantify the coding gain and diversity order. They show that the asymptotic performance depends on the behavior of the MGF of the output SNR. We write

$$f(x) = o[g(x)], \quad \text{as } x \to x_0 \tag{2.25}$$

if

$$\lim_{x \to x_0} \frac{f(x)}{g(x)} = 0.$$
 (2.26)

If the MGF of $\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s)$ can be approximated by a single polynomial term for $s \to \infty$ as

$$|\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s)| = b|s|^{-d} + o(s^{-d}), \qquad (2.27)$$

then d is the diversity order of the system at high SNRs and the coding gain can be derived from b [21].

A MIMO system with L_t transmit and L_r receive antennas is said to have full diversity when it has used all possible spatial diversity from antennas and therefore has achieved diversity order of $L_t L_r$.

2.6 Orthogonal Space-time Block Codes

Receive diversity, i.e., multiple antennas at the receiver, may not be suitable for the downlink because the placement of multiple antennas on small handsets is expensive and difficult. The multiple antenna burden is preferably placed at the base station. This is called *transmit diversity*. In this case the channel is unknown to the transmitter but known to the receiver. With *space-time coding*, transmit symbols are spread across both space and time [3–7]. In this section, we give a general overview of space-time codes. Of these codes, one particularly interesting structure (namely space-time block code) is the major topic of interest for this thesis.



Figure 2.7: Alamouti Scheme with 2 transmit antenna and 1 receive antenna

One of the simplest and most attractive transmit diversity schemes were proposed by Alamouti [4] for the case of two transmit antennas. For transmitting Q = 2 complex symbols s_1 and s_2 during two time intervals uses the following transmission matrix

$$\mathbf{X} = \begin{bmatrix} s_1 & -s_2^* \\ s_2 & s_1^* \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.28)

Note that the code rate is $R_s = 2/2 = 1$. Assuming a single receiver, let h_1 and h_2 denote the channel coefficients for transmit antenna 1 and 2 respectively. The channel coefficients are assumed to be constant over two consecutive time intervals. The received signals are given by

$$y_1 = h_1 s_1 + h_2 s_2 + n_1,$$

$$y_2 = -h_1 s_2^* + h_2 s_1^* + n_2.$$
(2.29)

Maximum likelihood (ML) detection in (2.28) would be given by

$$\tilde{s}_1 = h_1^* y_1 + h_2 y_2^* = (|h_1|^2 + |h_2|^2) s_1 + \tilde{n}_1,$$

$$\tilde{s}_2 = h_2^* y_1 - h_1^* y_2^* = (|h_1|^2 + |h_2|^2) s_2 + \tilde{n}_2.$$
 (2.30)

We observe that the transmitted signals are effectively multiplied by $|h_1|^2 + |h_2|^2$. Hence, if one of the paths is in a deep fade, the other may not.

Space-time block codes derive their name from the fact that the encoding is done in both space and time. A space-time block code is defined by the relationship between the Q-tuple input signal \mathbf{s} and the set of signals to be transmitted from L_t antenna over T time intervals. Such a relation is given by $L_t \times T$ transmission matrix \mathbf{X}

$$\mathbf{X} = \begin{bmatrix} x_{1,1} & x_{1,2} & \cdots & x_{1,T} \\ x_{2,1} & x_{2,2} & \cdots & x_{2,T} \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \vdots \\ x_{L_t,1} & \cdots & & x_{L_t,T} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.31)

where $x_{i,j}$ are functions of Q-tuple input sequence s_1, s_2, \dots, s_Q and their complex conjugates. At time slot $i, x_{i,j}$ is transmitted from antenna j. Since Q information symbols are transmitted over T time intervals, the rate of the code is defined as $R_s = Q/T$. The receiver use arbitrary number of receive antennas L_r . The design does not depend on the number of receive antennas.

Tarokh et al. [5] extended the Alamouti's 2-transmit diversity scheme to more than two antennas. If

$$\mathbf{X}\mathbf{X}^{H} = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{Q} |s_{i}|^{2}\right) \mathbf{I}$$
(2.32)

where I is the identity matrix, then the code is called *orthogonal STBC* (OS-TBC). If the channel coefficients are constant over a period of T symbols, i.e. $h_{i,j}$ in (2.1) remain constant, then simple linear decoding of OSTBC is possible.

At the receiver, the L_r receive antennas use maximum likelihood (ML) decoding. Assuming perfect channel side-information (CSI), the decoder at antenna j maximizes

$$\sum_{t=1}^{T} \sum_{j=1}^{L_r} \left| y_{j,t} - \sum_{i=1}^{L_t} h_{i,j} x_{i,t} \right|^2.$$
(2.33)

Since the block coding requires only linear processing at the receiver, the decoding can be done efficiently and quickly. Space-time block codes can be constructed for any type of signal constellation and provide full diversity.

In general, OSTBC codeword is created from a set of Q symbols s_1, s_2, \cdots, s_Q all taken from the same signal constellation. An $L_t \times T$ transmission matrix is formulated as

$$\mathbf{X} = \sum_{i=1}^{Q} (s_i \mathbf{A}_i + s_i^* \mathbf{B}_i)$$
(2.34)

where \mathbf{A}_i and \mathbf{B}_i are matrices that satisfy several orthogonality constraints [22].

The orthogonality properties of OSTBC allows a simple linear decoding structure [4], [5]. Coding and decoding is performed in such a way that the receive SNR of the data stream is [4], [5]

$$\gamma = \gamma_0 \|\mathbf{H}\|_F^2 \tag{2.35}$$

where $\gamma_0 = E_s/L_t N_0$. They also allow for a simple upper bound on the probability of error [10], [7]

$$P_e \le e^{-\gamma \|\mathbf{H}\|_F^2}.\tag{2.36}$$

Equations (2.35) and (2.36) show that maximizing the channel Frobenius norm maximizes SNR as well as minimizes the instantaneous probability of error. This observation is used to develop the selection algorithm.

Several well-known OSTBCs will be used in the thesis and simulations.

For $L_t = 3$, Q = 3, T = 4 the following code is an OSTBC [23], [24]:

$$\mathbf{X}_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} s_{1} & 0 & s_{2} & -s_{3} \\ 0 & s_{1} & s_{3}^{*} & s_{2}^{*} \\ -s_{2}^{*} & -s_{3} & s_{1}^{*} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.37)

This code has rate $R_s = 3/4$. An alternative OSTBC for $L_t = 3$, that has the same rate is [23], [24]:

$$\mathbf{X}_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} s_{1} & -s_{2}^{*} & s_{3}^{*} & 0\\ s_{2} & s_{1}^{*} & 0 & -s_{3}^{*}\\ s_{3} & 0 & -s_{1}^{*} & s_{2}^{*} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.38)



Figure 2.8: BER performance of OSTBCs using 16-QAM.

For $L_t = 4$, T = 4, Q = 3 the following code is an OSTBC [23], [24]:

$$\mathbf{X}_{4} = \begin{bmatrix} s_{1} & 0 & s_{2} & -s_{3} \\ 0 & s_{1} & s_{3}^{*} & s_{2}^{*} \\ -s_{2}^{*} & -s_{3} & s_{1}^{*} & 0 \\ s_{3}^{*} & -s_{2} & 0 & s_{1}^{*} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (2.39)

2.7 Spatial-Multiplexing

This section describes spatial multiplexing, a capacity-achieving MIMO signaling technique.

In spatial-multiplexing [25], a symbol stream $s_1, s_2, \cdots, s_{L_t}$ with $s_i \in S$ for all *i*, where S is the signal constellation, is demultiplexed into a space-time matrix **X**, which in this case is simply a vector (T = 1)

$$\mathbf{X} = \mathbf{s} = \begin{pmatrix} s_1 \\ s_2 \\ \vdots \\ s_{L_t} \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.40)

The received vector is

$$\mathbf{y} = \mathbf{H}\mathbf{s} + \mathbf{v}.\tag{2.41}$$

where $\mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{s}}[\mathbf{ss}^*] = (E_s/L_t)\mathbf{I}_{L_t}$ is the power constraint for transmission vector.

In spatial-multiplexing, multiple symbols are transmitted at each channel use. Since simple linear combining and single-dimensional detections are no longer optimal, the detection methods are more complicated. Optimal detection is actually multi-dimensional search where vectors in \mathcal{S}^{L_t} are detected, rather than symbols in \mathcal{S} as was the case for OSTBCs.

2.7.1 ML receiver

The optimal receiver for detecting the symbol vector is the ML receiver. The ML receiver is given by

$$\hat{\mathbf{s}} = \underset{\mathbf{s}\in\mathcal{S}^{L_t}}{\arg\min} \|\mathbf{y} - \mathbf{Hs}\|^2.$$
(2.42)

This detection minimizes the average probability of error and requires an exhaustive search over all vector symbols $\mathbf{s} \in S^{L_t}$. If an *M*-ary signal constellation S is chosen, the search is performed over total M^{L_t} possible vector symbols. Thus, the decoding complexity of the ML receiver is exponential in L_t . However, there are fast algorithms like sphere decoding [26], [22].

2.7.2 Sphere decoding

Since signal constellation S is a discrete alphabet, each **Hs** can be considered as a lattice point. The main idea behind sphere decoding is only test the lattice points (defined as **Hs**) lying inside a hypersphere. Let the QR decomposition of the channel matrix \mathbf{H} be

$$\mathbf{H} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{Q}_1, \mathbf{Q}_2 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R} \\ \mathbf{0} \end{bmatrix}$$
(2.43)

where **R** is an $L_t \times L_t$ upper-triangular matrix, **0** is the $(L_r - L_t) \times L_t$ all zero matrix, **Q**₁ is an $L_r \times L_t$ unitary matrix and **Q**₂ is an $L_r \times (L_r - L_t)$ unitary matrix. Note that here we assume that $L_r \ge L_t$. Thus (2.41) is equivalent to

$$\mathbf{y}' = \mathbf{R}\mathbf{s} + \mathbf{v}' \tag{2.44}$$

where $\mathbf{y}' = \mathbf{Q}_1^T \mathbf{y}$ and $\mathbf{v}' = \mathbf{Q}_1^T \mathbf{v}$ is also an i.i.d. Gaussian vector with mean zero and variance N_0 .

The lattice point \mathbf{Rs} lies in a sphere of radius d if, and only if

$$\|\mathbf{y}' - \mathbf{Rs}\|^2 \le d^2. \tag{2.45}$$

Thus (2.45) can be expanded as

$$\sum_{i=1}^{L_t} \left| y'_i - \sum_{j=i}^{L_t} r_{i,j} s_j \right|^2 \le d^2$$
(2.46)

where $r_{i,j}$, $(i \leq j)$ are nonzero entries of **R**. Expanding the left hand side of (2.46) yields

$$(y'_{L_t} - r_{L_t, L_t} s_{L_t})^2 + (y'_{L_t - 1} - r_{L_t - 1, L_t} s_{L_t} - r_{L_t - 1, L_t - 1} s_{L_{t-1}})^2 + \dots + \sum_{i=1}^{L_t} \left(y'_1 - \sum_{j=1}^{L_t} r_{1,j} s_j \right)^2 \le d^2 \quad (2.47)$$

where the first term depends only on s_{L_t} , the second term on s_{L_t}, s_{L_t-1} and so forth. For **R**s to lie within the sphere, it is necessary that each of the terms of left hand side of equation above be less than d^2 , which means $(y'_{L_t} - r_{L_t,L_t}s_{L_t})^2 \leq d^2$. This is equivalent to

$$\left\lceil \frac{-d+y'_{L_t}}{r_{L_t,L_t}} \right\rceil \le s_{L_t} \le \left\lfloor \frac{d+y'_{L_t}}{r_{L_t,L_t}} \right\rfloor.$$
(2.48)

For each candidate of s_{L_t} satisfying the above bound, we subtract value of the first term from both sides of (2.47). The next step is to define necessary condition for s_{L_t-1}

$$(y'_{L_t-1} - r_{L_t-1,L_t}s_{L_t} - r_{L_t-1,L_t-1}s_{L_t-1})^2 \le d_{L_t-1}^2 = d^2 - (y'_{L_t} - r_{L_t,L_t}s_{L_t})^2 \quad (2.49)$$

which leads to the following decision bound for $s_{L_{t-1}}$

$$\left\lceil \frac{-d_{L_{t-1}} + y'_{L_{t-1}} - r_{L_{t-1},L_{t}}s_{L_{t}}}{r_{L_{t-1},L_{t-1}}} \right\rceil \le s_{L_{t-1}} \le \left\lceil \frac{d_{L_{t-1}} + y'_{L_{t-1}} - r_{L_{t-1},L_{t}}s_{L_{t}}}{r_{L_{t-1},L_{t-1}}} \right\rceil.$$
(2.50)

The sphere decoder chooses a candidate for $s_{L_{t-1}}$ from the above bound. The same process will be continued for $s_{L_{t-2}}$ and so on.

2.7.3 V-BLAST

V-BLAST is a simple receiver scheme using sequential nulling and interference cancelation [27]. Nulling is performed by linearly weighting the received symbols to satisfy the zero forcing (ZF) or minimum mean squared error (MMSE) criterion. Zero-Forcing is used as nulling step without detection ordering. Let \mathbf{h}_i be the *i*th column of the channel matrix \mathbf{H} . Thus, the ZF nulling vector \mathbf{w}_i , $i = 1, 2, \dots, L_t$ is chosen such that

$$\mathbf{w}_i^H \mathbf{h}_j = \delta_{ij}. \tag{2.51}$$

Thus, the effect of symbols which have already been detected will be subtracted from the symbols not detected yet. This interference cancelation improves the overall performance when the order in which the components of symbol vector \mathbf{s} are detected is chosen carefully.

Let $s_{(1)}, s_{(2)}, \ldots, s_{(L_t)}$ be the order of the symbols that must be detected, where (i) is an integer between 1 and L_t . Let the received vector \mathbf{y} be $\mathbf{y}_{(1)}$. The first symbol is then detected as

$$\hat{s}_{(1)} = \operatorname*{arg\,min}_{s \in \mathcal{S}} \left| s - \mathbf{w}_1^H \mathbf{y}_{(1)} \right|.$$
(2.52)

The next step is to subtract the interference due to $\hat{s}_{(1)}$ on the other symbols by taking $\mathbf{y}_{(2)} = \mathbf{y}_{(1)} - \hat{s}_{(1)}\mathbf{h}_{(1)}$. Assuming the detection is correct (i.e. $\hat{s}_{(1)} = s_{(1)}$), the next symbol $s_{(2)}$ is then detected using ZF nulling vector $\mathbf{w}_{(2)}$. Same steps are then performed for next symbols by operation in turn on the modified received vectors $\mathbf{y}_{(3)}, \ldots, y_{(L_t)}$.

To find the optimal order of detection of symbols, note that in the kth iteration of V-BLAST algorithm, the signal with maximum post-detection SNR among remaining $L_t - k + 1$ symbols must be detected. The post-detection SNR for the kth detected symbol is given by

$$\rho_{(k)} = \frac{\mathcal{E}\left[|s_k|^2\right]}{N_0 ||\mathbf{w}_k||^2}.$$
(2.53)

The V-BLAST scheme can also be described by the QR decomposition explained in the previous section.

2.8 Channel Capacity

In this section, we provide an overview on the MIMO channel capacity. Channel capacity provides a limit to the amount of information that can be transmitted across the channel with low probability of error.

2.8.1 Channel capacity for Single-user system

Channel capacity of a single user system where the transmitter sends the signal p.d.f. $p_X(x)$ is given by [28]

$$C = \max_{p_X(x)} I(X;Y),$$
 (2.54)

i.e., channel capacity is mutual information between input and output signals, maximized over all possible distributions of the input. The significance of the channel capacity is that if the information rate R from the source is less than C(i.e. R < C), then it is theoretically possible to achieve error free transmission through the channel by appropriate coding. In this case, the length of the channel codes goes to infinity and the error goes to zero. If R > C, error free communication is not possible.

Information capacity is the maximum bits of information per channel use that can be transmitted error-free through the communication channel. For an AWGN channel **H** which is known and constant, the capacity is

$$C = \max_{p(x)} I(X, Y|H) = \log_2(1+\rho) \quad \text{bits/sec/Hz}, \tag{2.55}$$

where ρ is the SNR.

In wireless communications, the channel gains vary due to fading. The average mutual information, *ergodic capacity*, is defined as

$$C = \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{H}} \left[\log_2(1 + \rho \| \mathbf{h} \|^2) \right]$$
(2.56)

for a system with a single transmit and multiple (say, L_r) receive antennas.

2.8.2 Capacity of system with Multiple Antennas

In [2], the capacity of multiple antenna systems is derived. The ergodic capacity for such systems is given by

$$C = \max_{\mathbf{R}_s \ge 0, \mathrm{tr}\mathbf{R}_s = L_t} \mathcal{E}\left[\log \det\left(\mathbf{I}_{L_r} + \frac{\rho}{L_t}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{R}_s\mathbf{H}^H\right)\right]$$
(2.57)

where the expectation is taken over the distribution of the random matrix **H**. The capacity-achieving **s** is a zero-mean complex Gaussian vector with covariance matrix $\mathcal{E}[\mathbf{ss}^{H}] = \mathbf{R}_{s,opt}$, where it is the capacity-maximizing covariance matrix. With the optimizing covariance is $\mathbf{R}_{s,opt} = \mathbf{I}_{L_{t}}$, the capacity becomes

$$C = \mathcal{E}\left[\log \det\left(\mathbf{I}_{L_r} + \frac{\rho}{L_t}\mathbf{H}\mathbf{H}^H\right)\right].$$
 (2.58)

2.9 Some useful probability preliminaries

This section gives preliminary material on probability useful for performance analysis.
Gaussian (normal) distribution: The pdf and cdf of a Gaussian random variable, $\mathcal{N}(\mu, \sigma)$ with mean μ and variance σ^2 is

$$f(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\sigma}} e^{-\frac{(x-\mu)^2}{2\sigma^2}}$$
(2.59)

and

$$F(x) = \int_{-\infty}^{x} f(t)dt$$

= $\frac{1}{2} + \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x-\mu}{\sqrt{2}\sigma}\right)$
= $\mathcal{Q}\left(\frac{x-\mu}{\sigma}\right)$ (2.60)

where $\operatorname{erf}(\cdot)$ and $\mathcal{Q}(\cdot)$ are defined as

$$\operatorname{erf}(x) = \frac{2}{\sqrt{\pi}} \int_0^x e^{t^2} dt,$$
 (2.61)

$$Q(x) = \frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2} \operatorname{erf}\left(\frac{x}{\sqrt{2}}\right) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi}} \int_{x}^{\infty} e^{-\frac{t^{2}}{2}} dt.$$
 (2.62)

Complex Gaussian distribution: A circularly symmetric complex Gaussian random variable, $\mathcal{CN}(\mu, \sigma)$, is a random variable $Y = Y_r + jY_i$ where each of Y_r and Y_i are independent Gaussian distributed random variables with variance $\sigma^2/2$.

Chi-square distribution: Let random variable Y defined as

$$Y = \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i^2$$
 (2.63)

where the X_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n are statistically independent and identically distributed Gaussian random variables with mean zero and variance one. The pdf of Y is

$$f_Y(y) = \frac{1}{2^{\frac{n}{2}} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}n)} y^{\frac{n}{2}-1} e^{-\frac{y}{2}}, \quad y \ge 0,$$
(2.64)

where $\Gamma(\cdot)$ is function defined as

$$\Gamma(r) = \int_0^\infty t^{r-1} e^{-t} dt, \qquad (2.65a)$$

$$\Gamma(r) = (r-1)!, \quad r \in \mathbb{N}, \tag{2.65b}$$

$$\Gamma(r+1) = r\Gamma(r), \qquad (2.65c)$$

$$\Gamma(\frac{1}{2}) = \sqrt{\pi}.$$
 (2.65d)

This pdf is called *Chi-square (or Gamma) pdf with n degrees of freedom.* The cdf of Y is given by

$$F_Y(y) = \int_0^y \frac{1}{2^{\frac{n}{2}} \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}n)} t^{\frac{n}{2}-1} e^{-\frac{t}{2}} dt, \quad y \ge 0,$$
(2.66)

which can be expressed in terms of the incomplete gamma function. When n is even integer, assume $m = \frac{1}{2}n$, the cdf is given in closed-form as

$$F_Y(y) = 1 - e^{-\frac{y}{2}} \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{y}{2}\right)^k, \quad y \ge 0.$$
(2.67)

This case where n is even, is of interest in next chapters. It arises for a sum of square magnitudes of a number of complex Gaussian random variables,

The non-central chi-square distribution arises if X_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n in (2.63) are statistically independent and Gaussian distributed random variables with non-zero mean μ_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n and identical variance σ^2 . Thus, the pdf of Y in this case is

$$f_Y(y) = \frac{1}{2\sigma^2} \left(\frac{y}{\mu^2}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{4}} e^{-\frac{\mu^2+y}{2\sigma^2}} I_{\frac{n}{2}-1}\left(\frac{\mu\sqrt{y}}{\sigma^2}\right), \quad y \ge 0$$
(2.68)

where, by definition

$$\mu^2 = \sum_{i=1}^n \mu_i^2 \tag{2.69}$$

is the noncentrality chi-square parameter and $I_{\alpha}(\cdot)$ is the modified Bessel function of the first kind represented by

$$I_{\alpha}(x) = \left(\frac{x}{2}\right)^{\alpha} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{x^{2k}}{2^{2k}k!\Gamma(\alpha+k+1)}.$$
 (2.70)

For even integers of $m = \frac{1}{2}n$, the pdf in (2.68) can be simplified to

$$f_Y(y) = \frac{1}{(2\sigma^2)^m} y^{m-1} e^{-\frac{\mu^2 + y}{2\sigma^2}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\mu^{2k} y^k}{(2\sigma^2)^k k! (m+k-1)!}, \quad y \ge 0.$$
(2.71)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

The cdf of the noncentral chi-square distribution with an even integer n degrees of freedom can be expressed in terms of the generalized Marcum's Q function, which is defined as

$$\mathcal{Q}_m(\alpha,\beta) = \frac{1}{\alpha^{m-1}} \int_{\beta}^{\infty} x^m e^{-\frac{x^2 + \alpha^2}{2}} I_{m-1}(\alpha x) dx.$$
(2.72)

Thus the cdf can be expressed as [17]

$$F_Y(y) = 1 - \mathcal{Q}_m\left(\frac{\mu}{\sigma}, \frac{\sqrt{y}}{\sigma}\right).$$
(2.73)

Rayleigh distribution: In cellular radio, the received signal envelope has a distribution that is closely related to the central chi-square distribution. We provide pdf and cdf of generalized Rayleigh random variable R defined as

$$R = \sqrt{\sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i^2}$$
 (2.74)

where X_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n are i.i.d. Gaussian random variables with mean zero and variance σ^2 . The random variable $Y = R^2$ has chi-square distribution. The pdf of the generalized Rayleigh distribution can be obtained as

$$f_R(r) = \frac{r^{n-1}}{2^{\frac{n-2}{2}}\sigma^n \Gamma(\frac{1}{2}n)} e^{-\frac{r^2}{2\sigma^2}}, \quad r \ge 0.$$
(2.75)

The Rayleigh cdf for even numbers of n = 2m is

$$F_R(r) = 1 - e^{-\frac{r^2}{2\sigma^2}} \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{r^2}{2\sigma^2}\right), \quad r \ge 0.$$
 (2.76)

Ricean distribution: Ricean-distributed random variable is closely related to non-central chi-square distribution. A Rice random variable R is defined as (2.74) where X_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n are statistically independent Gaussian random variables with mean μ_i and variance σ^2 . The mean μ is defined in the same way as noncentrality chi-square parameter in (2.69). Thus, the pdf of R is given by

$$f_R(r) = \frac{r}{\sigma^2} e^{-\frac{r^2 + \mu^2}{2\sigma^2}} I_0\left(\frac{rs}{\sigma^2}\right), \quad r \ge 0$$
 (2.77)

The cdf of Rice distribution for the special case where $m = \frac{1}{2}n$ is an integer is expressed as

$$F_R(r) = 1 - \mathcal{Q}_m\left(\frac{\mu}{\sigma}, \frac{r}{\sigma}\right), \quad r \ge 0$$
 (2.78)

Order statistics distributions: Suppose there are n independent random variables X_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n each having the same pdf f(x) and the cdf F(x). If they are arranged in ascending order of magnitude as

$$X_{(1)} \le X_{(2)} \le \dots \le X_{(n)},$$
 (2.79)

then $X_{(i)}$, i = 1, 2, ..., n is called the *i*th order statistic. In this section X_i are assumed to be statistically independent and identically distributed. However, when these random variables are correlated the analysis of order statistic is much more difficult. The pdf of the *r*th order statistic is given by [29]

$$f_{(r)}(x) = \frac{n!}{(r-1)!(n-r)!} f(x) F^{r-1}(x) [1 - F(x)]^{n-r}$$
(2.80)

and the cdf is

$$F_{(r)}(x) = \sum_{i=r}^{n} {n \choose i} F^{i}(x) [1 - F(x)]^{n-i}.$$
 (2.81)

The joint pdf of $X_{(i_1)}, X_{(i_2)}, ..., X_{(i_k)}$ where $1 \leq i_1 \leq \cdots \leq i_k \leq n$ and $1 \leq k \leq n$ is given in [29] as

$$f_{i_1,i_2,\dots,i_k}(x_1,\dots,x_k) = \frac{n!}{(n_1-1)!(n_2-n_1-1)!\cdots(n-n_k)!} \times F^{n_1-1}(x_1)f(x_1)[F(x_2)-F(x_1)]^{i_2-i_1-1}} \times f(x_2)\cdots[1-F(x_k)]^{n-n_k}f(x_k).$$
(2.82)

Moment Generating Function: The moment generation function (MGF) of a random variable X is defined as the statistical average

$$\mathcal{E}_X\left[e^{sX}\right] \equiv \Phi_X(s) = \int_0^\infty e^{sx} f(x) dx = \mathcal{L}_x\left[f(x)\right](s)$$
(2.83)

where the variable s can be any complex number and is the Laplace transform of the pdf f(x). In the special case when s = jv, $j = \sqrt{-1}$ and v is a real number, the MGF is called *characteristic function* and may be described as the Fourier transform of the pdf f(x).

Assume (2.79) and a random variable is defined from sum of L largest variables as

$$Y = \sum_{i=n-l+1}^{n} X_{(i)}.$$
 (2.84)

Then the MGF of Y is given by [12]

$$\Phi_Y(s) = l \binom{n}{l} \int_0^\infty e^{-sx} f(x) [F(x)]^{n-l} [\phi(s,x)]^{l-1} dx, \quad 1 \le l \le n$$
 (2.85)

where $\phi(s, x) = \int_x^\infty e^{-st} f(t) dt$.

2.10 Summary

In this chapter a brief overview of OSTBCs is given. Different receivers such as ML, V-BLAST and Sphere decoders are introduced. Diversity order and coding gain are defined. Useful probability variables and formulas are discussed for subsequent performance analysis.

Chapter 3 Antenna Selection

This chapter discusses antenna selection for multiple-antenna wireless systems. The motivations for antenna selection is discussed in Section 3.1. Antenna selection can be implemented on transmit and/or receiver sides. Receive antenna selection briefly discussed in Section 3.2. Transmit antenna selection is discussed in Section 3.3. Transmit antenna selection criteria based on probability of error minimization and capacity maximization are discussed in Section 3.4.

3.1 Introduction

Multiple antenna wireless communication systems have recently sparked a significant interest due to their higher capacity and better performance compared to SISO systems. The capacity of MIMO system increases linearly with number of receiver or transmit antennas [1,2]. However, the increase in the number of antennas results in high hardware complexity. Since additional antenna elements such as patch or dipole antennas are usually inexpensive, the major cost factor of transmitters and receivers that employ multiple antennas is not actually the number of antennas. An RF chain includes high power amplifier, low-noise amplifier (LNAs), up/downconverter, and digital-to-analog/analogto-digital converters (DACs/ADCs) and is expensive. Therefore, the number of antennas may be larger than the number of RF chains, and, at any time



Figure 3.1: MIMO antenna selection system

period, only a subset of antennas via a low-cost RF switch is used for transmission. Thus, antenna selection reduces hardware complexity and costs and yet keeps the advantages of multiple antenna systems. At the receive side, antenna selection reduces the complexity. More interestingly, at the transmit side, antenna selection not only reduces the complexity, but also improves the capacity of the MIMO system [30], [31], [32] at the cost of a minimal amount of feedback. Moreover, full diversity systems are achievable through antenna selection.

Fig. 3.1 shows a MIMO system with transmit and receive antenna selection. An input bit stream is sent through an encoder and modulator. The space-time encoder converts a single bitstream into symbol streams through a proper mapping i.e. Gray mapping and then converts the complex symbol vector into N parallel streams of symbols. Each of these streams is sent through an RF chain to produce signal for transmission through each transmit antennas. However, the number of RF chains are less than transmit antennas (i.e. $N \leq L_t$), thus the RF switch chooses the best N antennas out of L_t . At the receiver, the RF switch chooses best N_r out of L_r receive antennas $(N_r \leq L_r)$. The channel seen by the selected subset of transmit and receive antennas, is the sub-matrix $\mathbf{H}_{AS} \in \mathbb{C}^{N_r \times N}$, which is obtained by selecting the rows and columns of the channel matrix **H** that correspond to the selected receive and transmit antennas. There are $\binom{L_t}{N}\binom{L_r}{N_r}$ possible sub-matrices of **H**.

The selection criteria are based either on system capacity [33], or bit error rate (BER) improvement [10]. Optimizing capacity and outage in spatial multiplexing systems is one approach. The other approach is exploring the diversity order and array gain or performance of system for space-time coded systems.

We briefly review previous antenna selection research and show different antenna selection types.

3.2 Receive Antenna Selection

Consider a diversity reception system where several copies of the transmitted signal are received by receiver. Each of these copies experiences different fading gains by a different path. The receiver combines these copies (known as *diversity combining*) in order to maximize the achievable SNR and reduce the complexity of decoder.

There are several types of diversity combining. Selection diversity chooses the path with the highest SNR and signal detection based on that specific path. Optimal linear combination of signals received from all the different paths leads to maximal ratio combining (MRC) method. Equal gain combining (EGC) simply add received signal after being co-phased. Generalized selection combining (GSC) [34] is a diversity combining scheme where N_r $(1 \leq N_r \leq L_r)$ branches with the highest SNR are selected from total L_r branches and then combined. Due to its ease of implementation, GSC is known as a widely employed receive diversity technique. However, compared to MRC or EGC, the error performance in fading channels is much poorer when the number of receive antennas L_r is large.



Figure 3.2: Transmit antenna selection scheme

3.3 Transmit Antenna Selection

Transmit antenna selection requires feedback from the receiver side. There are $\binom{L_t}{N}$ combinations of N transmit antennas out of total L_t antennas. Thus $\log_2\binom{L_t}{N}$ feedback bits are required, which specially for the case of single antenna selection is as low as $\log_2 L_t$ and is feasible for the practical purposes. Aside from the complexity reduction which is the same as receive antenna selection which has discussed before, transmit antenna selection improves capacity and performance of system surprisingly. This is a direct result of having limited feedback from the receiver [30], [31], [32].

Transmit antenna selection has recently been extensively studied; a number on antenna selection algorithms, various selection criteria based on capacity, error rates, and outage and performance analysis techniques have been developed. Capacity of MIMO channels with antenna selection is studied in [35] Joint transmit/receive antenna selection algorithms are presented in [36]. In the multi-mode antenna selection scheme [37], both the number of transmit antennas and mapping of substreams to antennas are dynamically adjusted to get the better performance. However, in this system spatial multiplexing with linear receiver is used over transmit antennas selected. Hybrid selection/maximal-ratio transmission is proposed and studied in [38] where the best N antennas out of total L_t are selected, and then combined to reduce the complexity of system. The outage probability, capacity and SER of antenna selection scheme in MIMO systems are also given in [38].

A method to select optimal set of antennas based on capacity maximization is given in [39]. Gore *et al.* proposed a method for optimal selection for transmit antennas for rank deficient channel matrices based on capacity maximization [40]. These results were further generalized and several fast methods for transmit antenna selection are proposed in [41]. A correlated selection algorithm is presented in [42] where the subset of transmit (receive) antennas are selected in order to maximize the determinant of the transmit (receive) subset selection. This result is based on capacity maximization of antenna selection over correlated channels.

It is shown in [30] that optimum signaling for largest ergodic capacity is generally different with antenna selection than without antenna selection. If the outage probability is used as a performance merit such in wireless local area networks, transmit antenna selection criteria are different. In [43] the active transmit antennas are selected to minimize the total transmit power among users in correlated multiple access channel to achieve a target outage probability and a data rate of each users. Comprehensive surveys on antenna selection can be found in [11, 36].

Transmit antenna selection has recently been studied; a number of antenna selection algorithms, various selection criteria based on capacity, error rates, and outage and performance analysis techniques have been developed. Comprehensive surveys can be found in [11, 36]. Although receive antenna selection with various channel/correlation models have been widely studied (see [44–50]), the analogous results are limited for transmit antenna selection. This thesis will discuss the performance analysis of transmit antenna selection and OSTBCs in fading channels. The symbol error rate (SER) performance of transmit antenna selection combined with OSTBCs is analyzed in [51]; however, the results are not in closed form. The asymptotic error performance of single transmit antenna selection and receive maximal-ratio (MRC) with generalized selection criterion is investigated in [52]. In [53], the SER formulas of combined single transmit antenna selection and receive generalized selection combining is derived. In this scheme the receiver first selects best receiving antennas for each transmit antenna and then selects the best transmit antenna based on received SNR. Again, the formulas are left as integrals and numerical method are needed. The exact bit error rate (BER) performance of only two transmit antennas with BPSK signals using the Alamouti scheme is derived in [54], [55]. In [56] the asymptotic bit error performance of the Alamouti scheme with transmit antenna selection is investigated for imperfect selection of antenna subset. Transmit antenna selection schemes, most discussed only over independent Rayleigh fading not for the correlated cases and for other kinds of fading.

3.4 Antenna Selection based on Capacity Maximization

Transmit antenna selection is achieved through a feedback from the receiver. However, the transmitter does not know **H**. The system chooses the best N transmit antennas and sends the symbol vectors through the selected subset. Therefore, the received signal vector can be defined as

$$\mathbf{y} = \sqrt{\frac{E_s}{N}} \mathbf{H}_{AS} \mathbf{s} + \mathbf{v} \tag{3.1}$$

where $\mathbf{s} \in \mathbb{C}^N$ is the symbol vector transmitted from N transmit antennas and selected from arbitrary signal constellation S. E_s is the total transmission power and \mathbf{v} is the noise vector of size L_r which has i.i.d. entries of $\mathcal{CN}(0, N_0)$. The channel model is provided as in (2.3). In fact, the channel seen by the subset is the sub-matrix, \mathbf{H}_{AS} , that is obtained by selecting the rows and columns of the channel matrix \mathbf{H} corresponding to the selected antenna subsets. The optimal subset of selected antennas gives the largest mutual information between the transmitter and receiver. The capacity with antenna selection is thus given by [35]

$$C_{AS} = \max_{\mathbf{H}_{AS}} \log \det \left(\mathbf{I}_{L_t} + \frac{E_s}{N_0 L_t} \mathbf{H}_{AS} \mathbf{H}_{AS}^H \right).$$
(3.2)

The maximization is over all possible $N_r \times N$ sub-matrices of **H**. Therefore, the optimal antenna selection channel subset $\mathbf{H}_{AS,opt}$ is given by

$$\mathbf{H}_{AS,opt} = \operatorname*{arg\,max}_{\mathbf{H}_{AS}} \log \det \left(\mathbf{I}_{L_t} + \frac{\rho}{L_t} \mathbf{H}_{AS} \mathbf{H}_{AS}^H \right)$$
(3.3)

A closed form solution for this criteria is quite difficult. For receive antenna selection, lower and upper bound of C_{AS} can be found in [35] and [57].

3.4.1 Antenna Selection for OSTBCs

When OSTBCs are employed with antenna selection, the probability of error can be upper bounded by

$$P_e \le e^{-\frac{\rho}{N} \|\mathbf{H}_{AS}\|_F^2}.$$
(3.4)

Given that the channel subset \mathbf{H}_{AS} is selected, the instantaneous SNR of the received signal γ_{AS} is given by [6]

$$\gamma_{AS} = \frac{\rho}{N} \|\mathbf{H}_{AS}\|_F^2 \tag{3.5}$$

where N is the number of transmit antennas selected. Since above upper bound is enough tight and in a communication system maximizing SNR minimizes the probability of error, thus the optimal rule is to choose \mathbf{H}_{AS} to minimize the probability of error. Therefore, the selected sub-matrix has the largest Frobenius norm of all possible sub-matrices of the channel matrix:

$$\mathbf{H}_{AS,opt} = \underset{\mathbf{H}_{AS}}{\arg\max} \|\mathbf{H}_{AS}\|_{F}^{2}.$$
(3.6)

Transmit antenna selection corresponds to the selection of a set of columns of the channel matrix. Since the Frobenius norm of a matrix is equal to the sum of norms of its columns, transmit antenna selection leads to selecting the number of columns of the channel matrix \mathbf{H} with the largest norms. Assume

$$\mathbf{H} = [\mathbf{h}_1 \mathbf{h}_2 \cdots \mathbf{h}_{L_t}] \tag{3.7}$$

and order the columns of H with respect to their norms as

$$|\mathbf{h}_{(1)}| \ge |\mathbf{h}_{(2)}| \ge \dots \ge |\mathbf{h}_{(L_t)}|. \tag{3.8}$$

Then selecting N transmit antennas out of L_t antennas gives the transmit antenna selection channel matrix as

$$\mathbf{H}_{TAS} = \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{h}_{(1)} \mathbf{h}_{(2)} \cdots \mathbf{h}_{(N)} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.9)

3.5 Summary

The cost and hardware complexity of MIMO wireless systems can be reduced by reducing number of active antennas. This is feasible through antenna selection. Moreover, transmit antenna selection also improves the capacity of the MIMO system and gives better performance. With minimal number of bits of feedback, transmitter chooses the best set of transmit antennas. Transmit antenna selection criteria include maximizing the capacity of system after selection which leads to selecting antennas through exhaustive search algorithm with capacity as an objective function. Minimizing the error rate and therefore maximizing achievable received SNR leads to selecting transmit antennas which have highest norms of the corresponding channel column.

Chapter 4

Performance of OSTBCs over Transmit Antenna Selection

In this chapter, we analyze the performance of transmit antenna selection with OSTBCs over independent Rayleigh fading channels. For this purpose, the MGF of the received SNR is needed. Using order statistics, exact BER expressions are derived in Section 4.3. Section 4.4 presents an asymptotic performance analysis. Diversity and coding gain of this system are derived. Numerical results, simulations and conclusions conclude the chapter.

4.1 System Model

Fig. 4.2 shows a MIMO system with OSTBC with transmit antenna selection. Gray mapping of signal constellation symbols is used. The OSTBC encoder produces an space-time block matrix for transmission over T time slots and over N transmit antennas which are selected based on the criterion of selection to minimize the error rate of the system. Total transmission power is divided by N number of active transmit antennas to fix the total transmission power E_s . The modulated signal waveforms are sent over the Rayleigh fading channel. The channel is assumed to have quasi-static fading which means the channel parameters are constant complex values over T time slots, one block period but may change from one block period to the next T time slots. In this chapter, we assume that the transmit and receive antennas have no correlation (i.e. $\mathbf{R}_r = \mathbf{I}_{L_r}$, $\mathbf{R}_t = \mathbf{I}_N$). Finally the received signal is processed by the OSTBC decoder. Due to orthogonality property of OSTBCs (2.32), the decoder can detect each symbol separately and treat the MIMO system as an equivalent number of SISO systems. Thus, this eases the decoding complexity.

4.2 The received SNR

With OSTBCs, the MIMO system is equivalent to Q independent single input single output (SISO) systems defined as [5], [3]

$$\tilde{s}_q = \sqrt{\frac{E_s}{N}} \left(\frac{1}{R_s} \| \mathbf{H}_{TAS} \|_F^2 \right) s_q + \nu_q, \quad q = 1, ..., Q$$

$$(4.1)$$

where $\nu_q \sim C\mathcal{N}\left(0, \frac{1}{R_s} \|\mathbf{H}_{TAS}\|_F^2 N_0\right)$. We conclude that the SNR per bit with an *M*-ary constellation is

$$\gamma_b(\rho) = \frac{E_s}{N_0} \cdot \frac{1}{R_s N \log_2 M} \|\mathbf{H}_{TAS}\|_F^2 = c\rho \|\mathbf{H}_{TAS}\|_F^2$$
(4.2)

where $\rho = \frac{E_s}{N_0}$ is the SNR per channel and $c = 1/(R_s N \log_2 M)$. Therefore, the antenna selection criterion in (3.6), which selects N transmit antennas, maximizes the instantaneous SNR and thereupon minimizes the error rate.



Figure 4.1: MIMO OSTBC with transmit antenna selection.

38



Figure 4.2: OSTBC MIMO system is equivalent to Q independent SISO systems

Thus, as discussed in Chapter 4, the antenna selection criterion involves selecting selects a subset of antennas which minimize the error rate of system and therefore maximizing the SNR of the system. We have

$$\mathbf{H}_{TAS,opt} = \underset{\mathbf{H}_{TAS}}{\arg \max} \gamma_b(\rho)$$

=
$$\underset{\mathbf{H}_{TAS}}{\arg \max} c\rho \|\mathbf{H}_{TAS}\|_F^2$$

=
$$\underset{\mathbf{H}_{TAS}}{\arg \max} \|\mathbf{H}_{TAS}\|_F.$$
 (4.3)

Let the scaled norms of the columns of \mathbf{H} be $\gamma_k = c\rho \|\mathbf{h}_k\|^2$, $k = 1, 2, ..., L_t$. Maximizing the SNR is equivalent to maximize the Frobenius norm of the transmit antenna selection sub-channel. The Frobenius norm of a matrix is equal to the sum of the norms of its columns. Thus, optimal transmit antenna selection yields a sub-matrix of the channel matrix \mathbf{H} with the columns with highest norms. In transmit antenna selection (3.6), the best N antennas with the largest γ_k are selected. Assume that

$$\gamma_{(1)} \ge \gamma_{(2)} \ge \dots \ge \gamma_{(L_t)} \tag{4.4}$$

or equivalently

$$|\mathbf{h}_{(1)}| \ge |\mathbf{h}_{(2)}| \ge \dots \ge |\mathbf{h}_{(L_t)}|. \tag{4.5}$$

Thus, the received SNR per bit (4.2) is the sum of N largest order statistics

 $\gamma_{(i)} = c\rho \|\mathbf{h}_{(i)}\|^2, i = 1, 2, ..., L_t$ and can be written as

$$\gamma_b = \sum_{k=1}^N \gamma_{(k)}.$$
(4.6)

4.3 BER Expressions

Now that we have derived the received SNR, using the relations between MGF of the received SNR and BER in Section 2.4, we will obtain the closed-form expressions of BER for M-PAM, M-QAM and M-PSK signal constellations.

4.3.1 M-ary PAM and QAM

Recall from last section that $\gamma_k = c\rho \|\mathbf{h}_k\|^2$, $k = 1, 2, ..., L_t$, are the scaled norms of the columns of **H**, which are the received SNR from the *k*th transmit antenna. In an independent flat Rayleigh MIMO channel, γ_k , $k = 1, 2, ..., L_t$ are i.i.d. chi-squared variables with pdf [17]

$$f_{\gamma_k}(x) = \frac{x^{L_r - 1}}{(c\rho)^{L_r}(L_r - 1)!} e^{-x/c\rho}, \quad x \ge 0$$
(4.7)

and the cumulative density distribution (cdf) is given by [17]

$$F_{\gamma_k}(x) = 1 - e^{-x/c\rho} \sum_{k=0}^{L_r - 1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{x}{c\rho}\right)^k, \quad x \ge 0$$
(4.8)

The received SNR from the (k)th transmit antenna, $\gamma_{(k)}$, k = 1, 2, ..., N, are a set of order statistics (4.4). Thus, the MGF of the sum of N largest order statistics is given by [12]

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = N \binom{L_t}{N} \int_0^\infty e^{-sx} f_{\gamma_k}(x) [F_{\gamma_k}(x)]^{L_t - N} [\phi_{\gamma_k}(s, x)]^{N - 1} dx, \quad 1 \le N \le L_t$$
(4.9)

where $\phi_{\gamma_k}(s, x) = \int_x^\infty e^{-st} f_{\gamma_k}(t) dt$. Simply by changing variables in this integral, an other version of the MGF is given by [12]

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = (L_t - N) \binom{L_t}{N} \int_0^\infty f_{\gamma_k}(x) [F_{\gamma_k}(x)]^{L_t - N - 1} [\phi_{\gamma_k}(s, x)]^N dx, \quad 1 \le N \le L_t$$
(4.10)

The function $\phi_{\gamma_k}(s, x)$ can be simplified as

$$\begin{split} \phi_{\gamma_k}(s,x) &= \int_x^\infty e^{-st} f_{\gamma_k}(t) dt \\ &= \frac{1}{(c\rho)^{L_r} (L_r - 1)!} \int_x^\infty t^{L_r - 1} e^{-t\left(s + \frac{1}{c\rho}\right)} dt \\ &= \frac{e^{-x\left(s + \frac{1}{c\rho}\right)}}{(c\rho)^{L_r} \left(s + \frac{1}{c\rho}\right)^{L_r}} \sum_{k=0}^{L_r - 1} \frac{x^k \left(s + \frac{1}{c\rho}\right)^k}{k!}. \end{split}$$
(4.11)

Therefore, substituting these results into (4.9) the MGF of the received SNR for transmit antenna selection is

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = N \binom{L_t}{N} \int_0^\infty \frac{x^{L_r - 1} e^{-x(s + c\rho)}}{(c\rho)^{L_r} (L_r - 1)!} \left[1 - e^{-x/c\rho} \sum_{k=0}^{L_r - 1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{x}{c\rho}\right)^k \right]^{L_t - N} \\ \times \left[\frac{e^{-x(s + \frac{1}{c\rho})}}{(c\rho)^{L_r} \left(s + \frac{1}{c\rho}\right)^{L_r}} \sum_{k=0}^{L_r - 1} \frac{x^k \left(s + \frac{1}{c\rho}\right)^k}{k!} \right]^{N-1} dx.$$
(4.12)

The second term within the integral above can be expanded as

$$\left[1 - e^{-x/c\rho} \sum_{k=0}^{L_r - 1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{x}{c\rho}\right)^k\right]^{L_t - N} \\
= \sum_{j=0}^{L_t - N} (-1)^j \binom{L_t - N}{j} e^{-\frac{jx}{c\rho}} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{L_r - 1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{x}{c\rho}\right)^k\right]^j \\
= \sum_{j=0}^{L_t - N} (-1)^j \binom{L_t - N}{j} e^{-\frac{jx}{c\rho}} \sum_{n=0}^{j(L_r - 1)} a_n^{(L_r, j)} \left(\frac{x}{c\rho}\right)^n \tag{4.13}$$

where $a_r^{(m,n)}$ is the coefficient of x^r in expression

$$\left[\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{x^k}{k!}\right]^n. \tag{4.14}$$

-

Using this expansion into the MGF expression in (4.12), similar to simplification done in [58] the MGF closed-form expression can be obtained as [59] and [60]

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = N\binom{L_t}{N} \frac{1}{(c\rho)^{L_r N} [(L_r - 1)!]^N} \sum_{r=0}^{(L_r - 1)(N-1)} a_r^{(L_r, N-1)} \\ \times \sum_{j=0}^{L_t - N} \binom{L_t - N}{j} (-1)^j \left\{ \sum_{l=0}^{j(L_r - 1)} a_j^{(L_r, j)} \frac{(l+r+L_r - 1)!}{(c\rho)^l} \right\} \\ \times \frac{1}{\left(\frac{1}{c\rho} + s\right)^{L_r (N-1) - r}} \cdot \frac{1}{\left(\frac{1}{c\rho} (N+j) + Ns\right)^{l+r+L_r}} \right\}.$$
(4.15)

Therefore, the BER for the PAM signals can be obtained from (4.15) and (2.18) as [59] and [60].

$$P_{M}(\rho) = \frac{2N\binom{L_{t}}{N}}{M\log_{2} M} \frac{1}{[(L_{r}-1)!]^{N}} \sum_{n=1}^{\log_{2} M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}} B_{i} \sum_{r=0}^{(L_{r}-1)(N-1)} a_{r}^{(L_{r},N-1)}$$

$$\times \sum_{j=0}^{L_{t}-N} \binom{L_{t}-N}{j} (-1)^{j} \sum_{l=0}^{j(L_{r}-1)} a_{l}^{(L_{r},j)} \frac{(l+r+L_{r}-1)!}{(N+j)^{l+r+L_{r}}}$$

$$\times I\left(\frac{c\rho D_{i}^{2}}{2}, \frac{Nc\rho D_{i}^{2}}{2(N+j)}; L_{r}(N-1)-r, l+r+L_{r}\right)$$
(4.16)

where

$$I(c_{1}, c_{2}; m_{1}, m_{2}) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{0}^{\pi/2} \left(\frac{\sin^{2} \theta}{\sin^{2} \theta + c_{1}} \right)^{m_{1}} \left(\frac{\sin^{2} \theta}{\sin^{2} \theta + c_{2}} \right)^{m_{2}} d\theta$$
$$= \frac{(c_{1}/c_{2})^{m_{2}-1}}{2(1-c_{1}/c_{2})^{m_{1}+m_{2}-1}} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{m_{2}-1} \left(\frac{c_{1}}{c_{2}} - 1 \right)^{k} S_{k} I_{k}(c_{2}) - \frac{c_{1}}{c_{2}} \sum_{k=0}^{m_{1}-1} \left(1 - \frac{c_{1}}{c_{2}} \right)^{k} T_{k} I_{k}(c_{1}) \right].$$
(4.17)

is the integration which has been evaluated in [61]

$$S_k \triangleq \frac{R_k}{\binom{m_1+m_2-1}{k}},\tag{4.18a}$$

$$T_k \triangleq \sum_{n=0}^{m_2-1} \frac{\binom{k}{n}}{\binom{m_1+m_2-1}{n}} R_n,$$
 (4.18b)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

$$R_k \triangleq (-1)^{m_2 - 1 + k} \frac{\binom{m_2 - 1}{k}}{(m_2 - 1)!} \prod_{n = 1, n \neq k+1}^{m_2} (m_1 + m_2 - n), \qquad (4.18c)$$

$$I_k(c) = 1 - \sqrt{\frac{c}{1+c}} \left[1 + \sum_{n=1}^k \frac{(2n-1)!!}{n!2^n(1+c)^n} \right].$$
 (4.18d)

4.3.2 *M*-ary PSK

Using the tight approximation for the BER of the coherent M-ary PSK in AWGN channels in (2.17), the BER for M-PSK can be approximated as

$$P_M(\rho) \simeq \frac{2}{\max(\log_2 M, 2)} \sum_{i=1}^{\max(M/4, 1)} \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\pi/2} \Phi_{\gamma_b} \left(-\frac{\sin^2 \frac{(2i-1)\pi}{M}}{\sin^2 \theta} \right) d\theta.$$
(4.19)

Thus using the same integral simplification in previous section, the exact BER expression is given by

$$P_{M}(\rho) = \frac{2N\binom{L_{t}}{N}}{\max(\log_{2}M, 2)} \frac{1}{[(L_{r} - 1)!]^{N}} \sum_{i=1}^{\max(M/4, 1)} \sum_{r=0}^{(L_{r} - 1)(N-1)} a_{r}^{(L_{r}, N-1)}$$

$$\times \sum_{j=0}^{L_{t} - N} \binom{L_{t} - N}{j} (-1)^{j} \sum_{l=0}^{j(L_{r} - 1)} a_{l}^{(L_{r}, j)} \frac{(l+r+L_{r} - 1)!}{(N+j)^{l+r+L_{r}}}$$

$$\times I\left(c\rho\delta_{i}^{2}, \frac{Nc\rho\delta_{i}^{2}}{(N+j)}; L_{r}(N-1) - r, l+r+L_{r}\right)$$
(4.20)

where $\delta_i = \sin \frac{(2i-1)\pi}{M}$.

4.4 Asymptotic performance Analysis

In this section, we find asymptotic performance, diversity order and coding gain of the system.

Recall that if the MGF of $\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s)$ can be approximated by a single polynomial term for $s \to \infty$ as

$$|\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s)| = b|s|^{-d} + o(s^{-d}) \tag{4.21}$$

then d is the diversity order of the system at high SNRs and the coding gain can be derived from b [21]. Thus, to obtain the coding gain and diversity order of the system, the approximate MGF is needed as $s \to \infty$. Note that

$$e^{-z} = \sum_{k=0}^{+\infty} \frac{(-z)^k}{k!} \tag{4.22}$$

$$\sum_{k=0}^{L_r} \frac{(-z)^k}{k!} \cdot \sum_{i=0}^{L_r-1} \frac{z^i}{i!} = 1 - \frac{z^{L_r}}{L_r!} + o(z^{L_r}), \quad z \to 0.$$
(4.23)

Thus we can approximate $F_{\gamma_b}(x)$ in (4.8) as $x \to 0$

$$F_{\gamma_k}(x) = 1 - e^{-\frac{x}{c\rho}} \sum_{k=0}^{L_r - 1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{x}{c\rho}\right)^k = \frac{1}{L_r!} \left(\frac{x}{c\rho}\right)^{L_r} + o(x^{L_r}), \qquad (4.24)$$

and note that

$$\int_{x}^{\infty} e^{-st} f_{\gamma_{k}}(t) dt = \frac{1}{(s + \frac{1}{c\rho})^{L_{r}}} \frac{e^{-x(s + \frac{1}{c\rho})}}{(c\rho)^{L_{r}}} \sum_{k=0}^{L_{r}-1} \frac{x^{k}(s + \frac{1}{c\rho})^{k}}{k!}.$$
 (4.25)

By substituting these into (4.9), the MGF can be obtained as

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = \frac{N\binom{L_t}{N}}{(c\rho)^{L_rN}(L_r-1)!(s+\frac{1}{c\rho})^{L_rN}} \int_0^\infty e^{-xN(s+\frac{1}{c\rho})} x^{L_r-1} \\ \times \left[\frac{1}{L_r!} \left(\frac{x}{c\rho}\right)^{L_r} + o(x^{L_r})\right]^{L_t-N} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{L_r-1} \frac{x^k(s+\frac{1}{c\rho})^k}{k!}\right]^{N-1} dx. \quad (4.26)$$

To show that the MGF is $o(s^{-G_d})$, we ignore the $o(x^{L_r})$ term in the second term of the integral,

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) \simeq N \binom{L_t}{N} \frac{L_r}{(c\rho)^{L_r L_t} (L_r!)^{L_t - N + 1} (s + \frac{1}{c\rho})^{L_r N}} \\ \times \left\{ \sum_{j=0}^{(L_r - 1)(N-1)} a_j \left(s + \frac{1}{c\rho}\right)^j \int_0^\infty e^{-xN(s + \frac{1}{c\rho})} x^{L_r (L_t - N + 1) + j - 1} dx \right\}$$
(4.27)

in which a_j is the coefficient of x^j , $j = 0, 1, ..., (L_r - 1)(N - 1)$, in the expansion

$$\left[\sum_{k=0}^{L_r-1} \frac{x^k}{k!}\right]^{N-1}.$$
 (4.28)

Since we have

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-ax} P_m(x) dx = \frac{m! p_m}{a^{m+1}}$$
(4.29)

where $P_m(x) = \sum_{i=0}^{m} p_i x^i$ is a polynomial of degree *m* with respect to *x*,

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = \frac{N\binom{L_t}{N}L_r}{(c\rho)^{L_r L_t} (L_r!)^{L_t - N + 1} N^{L_r (L_t - N + 1)}} \\ \times \left[\sum_{j=0}^{(L_r - 1)(N-1)} \frac{a_j \left[L_r (L_t - N + 1) + j - 1\right]!}{N^j} \right] \\ \times \frac{1}{(s + \frac{1}{c\rho})^{L_r L_t}} + o(s^{-L_r L_t}), \quad \text{as } s \to \infty$$
(4.30)

For notational brevity, we define

$$\Xi = \sum_{j=0}^{(L_r-1)(N-1)} \frac{a_j \left[L_r (L_t - N + 1) + j - 1 \right]!}{N^j}.$$
(4.31)

We substitute the approximated MGF into (2.18) to approximate the BER as

$$P_{M}(\rho) \simeq N \binom{L_{t}}{N} \frac{2}{M \log_{2} M} \cdot \frac{L_{r} \Xi}{(L_{r}!)^{L_{t}-N+1} N^{L_{r}(L_{t}-N+1)}} \times \sum_{n=1}^{\log_{2} M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}} B_{i} I_{L_{r}L_{t}} \left(D_{i}^{2} c \rho / 2 \right)$$
(4.32)

where [61, 62]

$$I_m(\mu) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_0^{\frac{\pi}{2}} \left(\frac{\sin^2 \theta}{c + \sin^2 \theta} \right)^m d\theta$$

= $\frac{1}{2^m} \left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{1+\mu}} \right)^m \sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{\binom{m-1+k}{k}}{2^k} \left(1 + \sqrt{\frac{\mu}{1+\mu}} \right)^k.$ (4.33)

to find the approximation of MGF above, we need to know the limit

$$\lim_{\mu \to \infty} I_m(\mu) = \binom{2m}{m} \frac{1}{2^{2m+1}} \frac{1}{\mu^m}.$$
(4.34)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Thus by using this limit, (4.34), we can find

$$\lim_{\rho \to \infty} P_M(\rho) = \frac{2N\binom{L_t}{N}L_r}{M \log_2 M(L_r!)^{L_t - N + 1} N^{L_r(L_t - N + 1)}} \Xi \times \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\log_2 M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_n} \frac{B_i}{D_i^{2L_r L_t}}\right) \frac{\binom{2L_r L_t}{L_r L_t}}{2^{L_r L_t + 1}(c\rho)^{L_r L_t}}$$
(4.35)

and compare it to (2.24) to obtain the coding gain and diversity order of system as

$$G_{c} = \left\{ N \begin{pmatrix} L_{t} \\ N \end{pmatrix} \frac{2}{M \log_{2} M} \cdot \frac{L_{r} \Xi}{(L_{r}!)^{L_{t} - N + 1} N^{L_{r}(L_{t} - N + 1)}} \\ \times \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\log_{2} M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}} \frac{B_{i}}{D_{i}^{2L_{r}L_{t}}} \right) \frac{\binom{2L_{r}L_{t}}{L_{r}L_{t}}}{2^{L_{r}L_{t} + 1} c^{L_{r}L_{t}}} \right\}^{-\frac{1}{G_{d}}} \\ G_{d} = L_{r}L_{t}.$$
(4.36)

Therefore, if N antennas corresponding to the largest received SNRs are selected, a full diversity order of $L_r L_t$ is obtained.

4.5 Numerical Results

In this section, we consider the orthogonal design proposed in [5], [3], with the rate 3/4 and $3 \leq L_t \leq 6$ transmit antennas. The MIMO system which has been chosen for simulation and numerical results is shown in Fig. 4.3 In order to use this orthogonal space-time block code, we select N = 3 transmit antennas. Fig. 4.4 compares the exact expression (4.16), the approximation (4.30) and (4.32), and the Monte Carlo simulation results for the system with $L_r = 2$ receive antennas, all using 16-QAM. Note that (5.45) asymptotically approaches (4.30), which is a tight bound of (4.16) at high SNRs. Fig. 4.5 shows the exact BER for $(L_t; N, L_r)$ systems, where the OSTBC is transmitted over N selected antennas of L_t available transmit antennas. L_r is the number of receive antennas in the system. Again, 16-QAM is used to show the general forms of BER expressions.Therefore, if N antennas corresponding to



Figure 4.3: MIMO system using OSTBC of rate 3/4 and 3 transmit antenna selected

the largest received SNR, or γ_b , are selected, a full diversity order of $L_r L_t$ is obtained.

4.6 Conclusion

In this chapter, we have derived the performance of transmit antenna selection and OSTBCs. The exact BER expressions for M-PAM and M-QAM and an approximate BER for M-PSK were derived. Our results are sufficiently general to handle an arbitrary number of antennas, unlike the previous results. Moreover, we directly derived the BER, not via the symbol error probability. As expected, we find that this scheme achieves full diversity order asymptotically (i.e., L_t not N), as if all the transmit antennas were used.



Figure 4.4: Comparison between exact BER for $(L_t, N; L_r)$ systems, selecting optimal N transmit antennas out of L_t with L_r antennas in receiver, using 16-QAM and approximations derived in (4.32) and (4.35) and diversity and coding gain approximated BER in (4.35).



Figure 4.5: Exact BER derived in (5.45) for $(L_t; N, L_r)$ transmit antenna selection systems, using 16-QAM

Chapter 5

Performance of OSTBCs over Transmit Antenna Selection in Receive Correlated Channels

In this chapter, we analyze the performance of transmit antenna selection using OSTBCs in receive correlated Rayleigh fading channels. Using order statistics, we derive the exact expressions for the MGF of the received SNR in Section 5.2 and Exact BER expressions in Section 5.3. Section 5.3 also presents the asymptotic performance analysis. The diversity order and coding gain are obtained.



Figure 5.1: MIMO system using OSTBC over Transmit antenna selection in Rayleigh flat fading channel with receive correlation \mathbf{R}_r

50

5.1 System Model

Fig. 5.1 shows transmit antenna selection over receive correlated channels. The OSTBC encoder is used to encode symbols into space-time block matrix. The correlation between receive antennas can be represented by receive correlation matrix \mathbf{R}_r of size $L_r \times L_r$. However, there is no correlation between the transmit antennas. Thus we can treat the received SNR from each transmit antenna independently. Using the Kronecker model (2.3), we find

$$\mathbf{H} = \mathbf{R}_r^{1/2} \mathbf{H}_w \tag{5.1}$$

where $\mathbf{R}_r = \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{H}}\{\mathbf{h}_i\mathbf{h}_i^H\}, i = 1, 2, ..., L_t$ with the assumption that the receive correlation is symmetric between receive antennas. The total correlation matrix has a block structure given by

$$\mathbf{R} = \mathbf{I}_{L_t} \otimes \mathbf{R}_r$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \mathbf{R}_r & \mathbf{0}_{L_r \times L_r} & \cdots & \mathbf{0}_{L_r \times L_r} \\ \mathbf{0}_{L_r \times L_r} & \mathbf{R}_r & \vdots & \vdots \\ \vdots & \cdots & \mathbf{R}_r & \mathbf{0}_{L_r \times L_r} \\ \mathbf{0}_{L_r \times L_r} & \cdots & \mathbf{0}_{L_r \times L_r} & \mathbf{R}_r \end{bmatrix}_{L_t L_r \times L_t L_r} .$$
(5.2)

Since, there is no transmit correlation, thus the antenna selection criteria still selects the transmit antennas with highest norms of the corresponding columns in the channel matrix **H**.

5.2 The received SNR

Recall that $\gamma_k = c\rho ||\mathbf{h}_k||^2$, $k = 1, 2, ..., L_t$, are the scaled norms of the columns of **H**, which are the received SNR from the *k*th transmit antenna. Note that there is no correlation between transmit antennas and therefore the received SNR from each transmit antennas, γ_k , are an independent sequence of random variables. Since, the entries of each vector \mathbf{h}_i are correlated with the correlation matrix \mathbf{R}_r , then the MGF of γ_k denoted by $\psi_{\gamma_k}(s)$ is given by [6]

$$\psi_{\gamma_k}(s) = \mathcal{E}_{\mathbf{H}}\left\{e^{-s\gamma_k}\right\} = \prod_{i=1}^m \frac{1}{1 + sc\rho\lambda_i}$$
(5.3)

where $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_m$ are the non-zero eigenvalues of \mathbf{R}_r . Without loss of generality, we assume that $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda_2 \geq \cdots \geq \lambda_m > 0$ and there exist L distinct values ζ_i with multiplicity α_i for i = 1, 2, ..., L in λ_i 's. where $\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + \cdots + \alpha_L = m$. Therefore, the MGF of γ_k can be rewritten as

$$\psi_{\gamma_k}(s) = \frac{1}{A(\rho)} \prod_{q=1}^{L} \left(s + \frac{1}{c\rho\zeta_q} \right)^{-\alpha_q}$$
(5.4)

 $A(\rho) = \prod_{q=1}^{L} (c\rho\zeta_q)^{\alpha_q}$. Using partial fractions, the MGF can be simplified as

$$\psi_{\gamma_k}(s) = \sum_{q=1}^{L} \sum_{l=1}^{\alpha_q} \beta_{q,l} \left(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q}\right)^{-l}$$
(5.5)

where $\sigma_q = c\rho\zeta_q$ and

$$\beta_{q,l} = \frac{1}{A(\rho)} \cdot \frac{1}{(\alpha_q - 1)!} \left\{ \frac{\partial^{(\alpha_q - 1)}}{\partial s^{\alpha_q - 1}} \left[\prod_{j=1, j \neq q}^{L} \left(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_j} \right)^{-\alpha_j} \right] \right\} \bigg|_{s = -\frac{1}{\sigma_q}}.$$
 (5.6)

Therefore, pdf of γ_k can be obtained by the inverse Laplace transform of (5.5) [63]. We must find the pdf as

$$f_{\gamma_k}(x) = \mathcal{L}_x^{-1} \left[\psi_{\gamma_k}(s) \right] = \sum_{q=1}^L \sum_{l=1}^{\alpha_q} \beta_{q,l} \frac{x^{l-1}}{(l-1)!} e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_q}}$$
$$= \sum_{q=1}^L e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_q}} P_q(x)$$
(5.7)

where $P_q(x) = \sum_{l=1}^{\alpha_q} \frac{\beta_{q,l}}{(l-1)!} x^{l-1}$ is a polynomial in x of degree $\alpha_q - 1$ and $P_q^{(k)}(x)$ is the k-th derivative of $P_q(x)$ with respect to x. Therefore, the cdf of γ_k would

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

be

$$F_{\gamma_k}(x) = \sum_{q=1}^{L} \sum_{l=1}^{\alpha_q} \beta_{q,l} \sigma_q^l \left[1 - e^{-x/\sigma_q} \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{x}{\sigma_q} \right)^k \right]$$

= $1 - \sum_{q=1}^{L} e^{-x/\sigma_q} \sum_{k=0}^{\alpha_q - 1} P_q^{(k)}(x) \sigma_q^{k+1}$
= $1 - \sum_{q=1}^{L} e^{-x/\sigma_q} Q_q(x)$ (5.8)

where $Q_q(x) = \sum_{k=0}^{a_q-1} P_q^{(k)}(x) \sigma^{k+1}$ is a polynomial in x of degree $\alpha_q - 1$. If there are no multiple eigenvalues, (i.e. $\alpha_q = 1$ for q = 1, 2, ..., L), the MGF of γ_k can be rewritten as

$$\psi_{\gamma_k}(s) = \frac{1}{A(\rho)} \prod_{q=1}^{L} \left(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q} \right)^{-1} = \sum_{q=1}^{L} \beta_q \left(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q} \right)^{-1}$$
(5.9)

where $A(\rho) = \prod_{q=1}^{L} \sigma_q$ and

$$\beta_q = \frac{1}{A(\rho)} \prod_{j=1, j \neq q}^{L} \left(\frac{1}{\sigma_j} - \frac{1}{\sigma_q} \right)^{-1}.$$
 (5.10)

Therefore, pdf of γ_k can be obtained as

$$f_{\gamma_k}(x) = \sum_{q=1}^L \beta_q e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_q}}, \qquad (5.11)$$

and the cdf of that can be found as

$$F_{\gamma_k}(x) = 1 - \sum_{q=1}^L \beta_q \sigma_q e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_q}}.$$
(5.12)

For the general case, to obtain the MGF, using (4.9), we find that

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = (L_t - N) \binom{L_t}{N} \int_0^\infty \sum_{q=1}^L e^{-x/\sigma_q} P_q(x) \left(1 - \sum_{q=1}^L e^{-x/\sigma_q} Q_q(x)\right)^{L_t - N - 1} \\ \times \left(\sum_{q=1}^L e^{-x(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q})} \sum_{k=0}^{\alpha_q - 1} \frac{P_q^{(k)}(x)}{(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q})^{k+1}}\right)^N dx$$
(5.13)

Note that

$$\int P_m(x)e^{-sx}dx = -\frac{e^{-sx}}{s}\sum_{k=0}^m \frac{P^{(k)}(x)}{s^k}$$
(5.14)

where $P_m(x)$ is a polynomial in x of degree m and $P^{(k)}(x)$ is the k-th derivative of $P_m(x)$ with respect to x. Thus, we find that

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = (L_t - N) \binom{L_t}{N} \int_0^\infty \sum_{q=1}^L e^{-x/\sigma_q} P_q(x) \left(1 - \sum_{q=1}^L e^{-x/\sigma_q} Q_q(x) \right)^{L_t - N - 1} \\ \times \left(\sum_{q=1}^L e^{-x(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q})} \frac{R_q(x;s)}{(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q})^{\alpha_q}} \right)^N dx$$
(5.15)

where $R_q(x;s) = \sum_{k=0}^{\alpha_q - 1} P_q^{(k)}(x)(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q})^{\alpha_q - k - 1}$. By expanding (5.15), we find that

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = & (L_t - N) \binom{L_t}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{L_t - N - 1} (-1)^j \binom{L_t - N - 1}{j} \int_0^\infty e^{-Nsx} \sum_{q=1}^L e^{-x/\sigma_q} P_q(x) \\ & \times \left(\sum_{\mathbf{i}} \binom{j}{i_1, \cdots, i_L} e^{-x(\frac{i_1}{\sigma_1} + \cdots + \frac{i_L}{\sigma_L})} S_{\mathbf{i}}(x) \right) \\ & \times \left(\sum_{\mathbf{n}} \binom{N}{n_1, \cdots, n_L} e^{-x(\frac{n_1}{\sigma_1} + \cdots + \frac{n_L}{\sigma_L})} \prod_{p=1}^L \frac{[R_q(x; s)]^{n_p}}{(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_p})^{n_p \alpha_q}} \right) dx \end{split}$$
(5.16)

where the sums over $\mathbf{i} = (i_1, i_2, \cdots, i_L)$ and $\mathbf{n} = (n_1, n_2, \cdots, n_L)$ are over all combinations of nonnegative integers such that $\sum_{k=1}^{L} i_k = j$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{L} n_k = N$. We also define

$$S_{\mathbf{i}}(x) = Q_1^{i_1}(x) \cdots Q_L^{i_L}(x), \quad \mathbf{i} = (i_1, ..., i_L) \quad \sum_{k=1}^L i_k = j$$
 (5.17)

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = &(L_t - N) \binom{L_t}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{L_t - N - 1} (-1)^j \binom{L_t - N - 1}{j} \sum_{q=1}^L \sum_{i} \sum_{n} \\ &\times \left\{ \binom{j}{i_1, \cdots, i_L} \binom{N}{n_1, \cdots, n_L} \frac{P_q(0) S_i(0)}{\frac{1}{\sigma_q} + \sum_{k=1}^L \frac{i_k}{\sigma_k} + \sum_{k=1}^L \frac{n_k}{\sigma_k} + Ns} \\ &\times \prod_{p=1}^L \frac{[R_q(0; s)]^{n_p}}{(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_p})^{n_p \alpha_q}} \right\} \end{split}$$
(5.18)

where $P_q(0) = \beta_{q,1}$, and $S_i(0) = Q_1^{i_1}(0) \cdots Q_L^{i_L}(0)$ where $Q_q(0) = \sum_{k=1}^{\alpha_q} \beta_{q,k} \sigma_q^k = T_q(\sigma_q)$ therefore, $S_i(0) = \prod_{q=1}^{L} T_q^{i_q}(\sigma_q)$, and $R_q(0;s) = \sum_{k=1}^{\alpha_q} \beta_{q,k} (s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q})^{\alpha_q - k}$. Therefore, the MGF has different poles at

$$\sigma_{q,\mathbf{i},\mathbf{n}} = \frac{N}{\left(\frac{1}{\sigma_q} + \sum_{k=1}^{L} \frac{i_k}{\sigma_k} + \sum_{k=1}^{L} \frac{n_k}{\sigma_k}\right)} \quad \text{of order 1}$$
(5.19a)

 $\sigma_q \quad \text{of order } N\alpha_q \tag{5.19b}$

where i_1, i_2, \dots, i_L and n_1, n_2, \dots, n_L are combinations of integers such that $\sum_{k=1}^{L} i_k = j$ and $\sum_{k=1}^{L} n_k = N$. Thus, MGF can be simplified by using the partial expansion as

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = \sum_{q=1}^{L} \sum_{j=1}^{L_t - N - 1} \sum_{\mathbf{i}} \sum_{\mathbf{n}} \frac{a(q; \mathbf{i}; \mathbf{n})}{s + \frac{1}{\sigma_{q, \mathbf{i}, \mathbf{n}}}} + \sum_{q=1}^{L} \sum_{l=1}^{N \alpha_q} \frac{b_{q, l}}{(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_q})^l}.$$
 (5.20)

Note that the coefficients of $b_{q,l}$ and $a(q; \mathbf{i}; \mathbf{n})$ can be derived directly from the integral form of MGF (4.9).

5.2.1 Constant Correlation Model

In this case, the receive correlation matrix is

$$\mathbf{R}_{r} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & r & \cdots & r \\ r & 1 & \cdots & r \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ r & r & \cdots & 1 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (5.21)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Therefore, \mathbf{R}_r has one eigenvalue of order one equal to $\lambda_1 = r(L_r - 1) + 1$ and one equal to $\lambda_2 = 1 - r$ of order $L_r - 1$. Thus, $\sigma_1 = c\rho\lambda_1$ and $\sigma_2 = c\rho\lambda_2$. Therefore, the MGF of γ_k would be like

$$\psi_{\gamma_k}(s) = \frac{1}{1+s\sigma_1} \left(\frac{1}{1+s\sigma_2}\right)^{L_r-1} = \frac{\beta_{1,1}}{s+\frac{1}{\sigma_1}} + \frac{\beta_{2,1}}{s+\frac{1}{\sigma_2}} + \dots + \frac{\beta_{2,L_r-1}}{\left(s+\frac{1}{\sigma_2}\right)^{L_r-1}}.$$
 (5.22)

Thus the pdf of the received SNR of the kth transmit antenna, γ_k is obtained by inverse Laplace transformation of the MGF of γ_k (5.22)

$$f_{\gamma_k}(x) = \beta_{1,1} e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_1}} + \sum_{l=1}^{L_r - 1} \beta_{2,l} \frac{x^{l-1}}{(l-1)!} e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_2}}.$$
(5.23)

By integrating from the pdf, we find the cdf as

$$F_{\gamma_k}(x) = \beta_{1,1}\sigma_1(1 - e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_1}}) + \sum_{l=1}^{L_r - 1} \beta_{2,l}\sigma_2^l \left(1 - e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_2}} \sum_{k=0}^{l-1} \frac{1}{k!} \left(\frac{x}{\sigma_2}\right)^k\right)$$
(5.24)

where

$$\beta_{1,1} = \beta = \frac{(-1)^{L_r - 1}}{\sigma_1 \sigma_2^{L_r - 1}} \left(\frac{1}{\sigma_1} - \frac{1}{\sigma_2}\right)^{1 - L_r}$$
$$\beta_{2,l} = (-1)^l \beta_{1,1} \left(\frac{1}{\sigma_1} - \frac{1}{\sigma_2}\right)^{l - 1} = \frac{(-1)^{L_r - l - 1}}{\sigma_1 \sigma_2^{L_r - 1}} \left(\frac{1}{\sigma_1} - \frac{1}{\sigma_2}\right)^{l - L_r}$$

by letting $\mu = \frac{1}{\sigma_1} - \frac{1}{\sigma_2}$ the pdf of γ_k can be simplified as,

$$f_{\gamma_k}(x) = \beta_{1,1} \left\{ e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_1}} - \sum_{l=1}^{L_r - 1} \frac{(-\mu x)^{l-1}}{(l-1)!} e^{-\frac{x}{\sigma_2}} \right\}$$
(5.25)

thus, the MGF of $\gamma_b = \sum_{k=1}^N \gamma_{(k)}$ which is the sum of N largest *independent* order statistics can be obtained from (4.9) and (4.10), [12]

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = (L_t - N) \binom{L_t}{N} \sum_{j=1}^{L_t - N - 1} (-1)^j \binom{L_t - N - 1}{j} \sum_{q=1}^2 \sum_{i=0}^j \sum_{n=0}^N \binom{j}{i} \binom{N}{n} \\ \times \frac{\beta^{1 + i + n} \sigma_1^i \left(1 - \beta \sigma_1\right)^{j - i}}{\frac{1}{\sigma_q} + \frac{i + N - n}{\sigma_1} + \frac{n + j - i}{\sigma_2} + Ns} \frac{1}{\left(s + \frac{1}{\sigma_1}\right)^n} \left[\frac{1}{\sigma_1} \left(\frac{\sigma_1^n}{1 + s\sigma_2}\right)^{L_r - 1} - \beta\right]^n$$
(5.26)

Note that for deriving the formula above for the MGF we have used the fact that

$$\frac{1}{1+s\sigma_1} \left(\frac{1}{1+s\sigma_2}\right)^{L_r-1} = \frac{\beta}{s+\frac{1}{\sigma_1}} + \sum_{k=1}^{L_r-1} \frac{\beta_{2,k}}{(s+\frac{1}{\sigma_2})^k}$$
(5.27)

thus we have

$$\sum_{k=1}^{L_r-1} \frac{\beta_{2,k}}{(s+\frac{1}{\sigma_2})^k} = \frac{1}{s+\frac{1}{\sigma_1}} \left\{ \frac{1}{\sigma_1} \left(\frac{1}{1+s\sigma_2} \right)^{L_r-1} - \beta_{1,1} \right\}$$
(5.28)

and we can substitute it in (4.9). Setting s = 0, we find that

$$\sum_{k=1}^{L_r-1} \beta_{2,k} \sigma_2^k = \left. \sum_{k=1}^{L_r-1} \frac{\beta_{2,k}}{(s+\frac{1}{\sigma_2})^k} \right|_{s=0} = 1 - \beta_{1,1} \sigma_1 \tag{5.29}$$

using these simplifications, the final MGF for the constant receive correlation case can be derived easily.

5.2.2 Tridiagonal Correlation Model

We assume that the correlation matrix \mathbf{R}_r is a tridiagonal matrix of the form

$$\mathbf{R}_{r} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & r & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ r & 1 & r & & & \\ 0 & r & 1 & \ddots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & 1 & r & 0 \\ & & & r & 1 & r \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & r & 1 \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.30)

where r is a correlation parameter. From (5.3), the MGF of γ_k depends on the eigenvalues of the correlation matrix \mathbf{R}_r for the receive correlated channel. The eigenvalues of a matrix can be found through the characteristic function of the matrix as $\Delta_{L_r}(\lambda) = \det(\mathbf{R}_r - \lambda \mathbf{I}) = 0$. The solutions of this equation for λ are eigenvalues of \mathbf{R}_r . We know from the results in [64] that for a tridiagonal matrix of the above form with size $L_r \times L_r$ the characteristic function is

$$\Delta_{L_r}(\lambda) = r^{L_r - 1} (1 - \lambda) \frac{\sin(l_r + 1)\theta}{\sin\theta}$$
(5.31)

where $L_r = 2l_r + 1$ is odd and

$$\Delta_{L_r}(\lambda) = r^{L_r} \frac{\sin(l_r + 1)\theta + \sin l_r \theta}{\sin \theta}$$
(5.32)

where $L_r = 2l_r$ is even and θ is defined implicitly from λ and the correlation parameter r as

$$(1 - \lambda)^2 = 2r^2 + 2r^2 \cos \theta = 4r^2 \cos^2 \frac{\theta}{2}$$
 (5.33)

which means that

$$\lambda = 1 \pm 2r \cos \frac{\theta}{2} \tag{5.34}$$

Thus, the eigenvalues for an odd L_r are $\lambda_1 = 1$ and the others can be derived from

$$\sin(l_r + 1)\theta = 0 \tag{5.35}$$

where $\sin \theta \neq 0$. Thus

$$\theta = \frac{k\pi}{l_r + 1}, \quad k = 1, 2, ..., l_r \tag{5.36}$$

Therefore, using the definition of θ in (5.33), The rest of eigenvalues of the correlation matrix with odd size are

$$\lambda_{2i}, \lambda_{2i+1} = 1 \pm 2r \cos \frac{i\pi}{2(l_r+1)}, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., l_r.$$
 (5.37)

When $L_r = 2l_r$ where l_r is an integer, then

$$\sin(l_r + 1)\theta + \sin l_r \theta = 0, \quad \sin \theta \neq 0 \tag{5.38}$$

where gives us the result that

$$(l_r + 1)\theta = (2k - 1)\pi - l_r\theta, \quad k = 1, 2, ..., l_r$$
(5.39)

$$\theta = \frac{(2k-1)\pi}{2l_r+1}, \quad k = 1, 2, ..., l_r \tag{5.40}$$

thus the eigenvalues are

$$\lambda_{2i-1}, \lambda_{2i} = 1 \pm 2r \cos \frac{(2i-1)\pi}{2l_r+1}, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., l_r$$
 (5.41)

For the tridiagonal correlation, the eigenvalues are distinct and therefore (5.11) and (5.12) can be used to derive the MGF and the BER expressions.

5.2.3 Exponential Correlation Model

The components of \mathbf{R}_r in the exponential correlation model is given by

$$r_{ij} = r^{|i-j|}, \quad |r| \le 1$$
 (5.42)

where r is the (complex) correlation coefficient of neighboring receive antennas. This is a simple single-parameter model which allows one to study the effects of receive correlation on transmit antenna scheme.

The eigenvalues λ_i , $i = 1, 2, ..., L_r$ of the \mathbf{R}_r can be calculated as follows [65]:

$$\lambda_i = \frac{1 - r^2}{1 - 2r\cos\theta_i + r^2}, \quad i = 1, 2, ..., L_r$$
(5.43)

where θ_i for $i = 1, 2, ..., L_r$ are solutions of the equations:

$$\sin \frac{(L_r+1)\theta}{2} = r \sin \frac{(L_r-1)\theta}{2},$$

$$\cos \frac{(L_r+1)\theta}{2} = r \cos \frac{(L_r-1)\theta}{2}.$$
 (5.44)

The eigenvalues of the exponential receive correlation matrix are distinct and therefore the MGF and BER expressions can be obtained from (5.11) and (5.12).

5.3 BER expressions

In this section, we are finding the BER expressions for transmit antenna selection scheme using OSTBCs over receive correlated Rayleigh fading channels.

5.3.1 *M*-ary PAM and QAM

Using the closed-form expressions in (5.20) and (2.18), the BER can be obtained as

$$P_{M}(\rho) = \frac{2}{M \log_{2} M} \sum_{n=1}^{\log_{2} M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}} B_{i} \Biggl\{ \sum_{q=1}^{L} \sum_{l=1}^{N \alpha_{q}} b_{q,l} I_{l} \left(\frac{D_{i}^{2} \sigma_{q}}{2} \right) + \sum_{q=1}^{L} \sum_{j=1}^{L_{t}-N-1} \sum_{\mathbf{i}} \sum_{\mathbf{n}} a(q; \mathbf{i}; \mathbf{n}) I_{1} \left(\frac{D_{i}^{2} \sigma_{q, \mathbf{i}, \mathbf{n}}}{2} \right) \Biggr\}, \quad (5.45)$$
where $I_m(\mu)$ has been defined in (4.33).

5.3.2 *M*-PSK

The tight approximation of M-PSK BER in (2.17) and employing (5.20), (2.18) yield the approximate BER expressions for M-PSK as follows:

$$P_{M}(\rho) \simeq \frac{2}{\max(\log_{2} M, 2)} \sum_{i=1}^{\max(M/4, 1)} \left\{ \sum_{q=1}^{L} \sum_{l=1}^{N\alpha_{q}} b_{q,l} I_{l} \left(\sigma_{q} \sin^{2} \frac{(2i-1)\pi}{M} \right) + \sum_{q=1}^{L} \sum_{j=1}^{L_{t}-N-1} \sum_{\mathbf{i}} \sum_{\mathbf{n}} a(q; \mathbf{i}; \mathbf{n}) I_{1} \left(\sigma_{q, \mathbf{i}, \mathbf{n}} \sin^{2} \frac{(2i-1)\pi}{M} \right) \right\}.$$
 (5.46)

5.4 Asymptotic Performance Analysis

Using the inverse Laplace transformation of the MGF of γ_k , we obtain another representation for pdf and cdf of γ_k as

$$f_{\gamma_k}(x) = \mathcal{L}_x^{-1}[\psi_{\gamma_k}(s)]$$

$$F_{\gamma_k}(x) = \int_0^x f_{\gamma_k}(t)dt = \mathcal{L}_x^{-1}\left[\frac{\psi_{\gamma_k}(s)}{s}\right].$$
(5.47)

Thus, by inserting inverse Laplace transformation representation of pdf and cdfs into the MGF expressions (4.9) of γ_b , the achievable received SNR of transmit antenna selection system, we obtain

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = N \binom{L_t}{N} \int_0^\infty e^{-sx} \mathcal{L}_x^{-1} \left[\psi_{\gamma_k}(s) \right] \\ \times \left\{ \mathcal{L}_x^{-1} \left[\frac{\psi_{\gamma_k}(s)}{s} \right] \right\}^{L_t - N} \left[\int_x^\infty e^{-st} f_{\gamma_k}(t) dt \right]^{N-1} dx.$$
(5.48)

Note that if f(x) can be approximated as a single polynomial [21]

$$f(x) = \alpha x^{\beta} + o(x^{\beta}), \quad x \to 0$$
(5.49)

then the Laplace transformation of f(x) also can be approximated as a single polynomial like

$$\psi(s) = \mathcal{L}[f(x)] = \frac{\alpha\beta!}{s^{\beta+1}} + o(s^{-\beta-1}), \quad s \to \infty.$$
(5.50)

We use the facts as follows in the approximation process of the MGF and further BER performance of the system.

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-sx} P(x) dx = \frac{q! p_q}{s^{q+1}},$$
(5.51)

$$\int_{x}^{\infty} e^{-st} t^{Q} dt = \frac{e^{-sx}}{s^{Q}} \sum_{i=0}^{Q} \frac{(sx)^{i}}{i!},$$
(5.52)

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} e^{-sx} x^{Q} \left[\int_{x}^{\infty} e^{-st} P(t) dt \right]^{N-1} dx = \frac{A}{s^{B}} + o(s^{-B})$$
(5.53)

where $P(x) = p_q x^q + o(x^q)$ as $x \to 0$, is a function of x and B = Q + 1 + (q + 1)(N-1). Therefore, $o(x^q)$ can be ignored from P(x) in order to approximate the MGF. From (5.3), and the inverse Laplace transformation of the MGF, we have

$$f_{\gamma_k}(x) = \mathcal{L}^{-1}\left[\prod_{i=1}^m \frac{1}{1 + sc\rho\lambda_i}\right] = \frac{1}{(c\rho)^m \prod_{i=1}^m \lambda_i} \cdot \frac{x^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} + o(x^{m-1}), \quad (5.54)$$

where *m* is the rank of the receive correlation matrix \mathbf{R}_r . Using the fact that $F_{\gamma_k}(x) = \mathcal{L}_x^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{s} \psi_{\gamma_k}(s) \right]$, we also have

$$F_{\gamma_k}(x) = \mathcal{L}^{-1} \left[\frac{1}{s} \cdot \prod_{i=1}^m \frac{1}{1 + sc\rho\lambda_i} \right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{(c\rho)^{m+1} \prod_{i=1}^m \lambda_i} \cdot \frac{x^m}{m!} + o(x^m), \quad x \to \infty.$$
(5.55)

Therefore, using the fact in (5.51), the MGF as $s \to \infty$ is simplified as

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) \simeq N \binom{L_t}{N} \int_0^\infty e^{-sx} \frac{1}{(c\rho)^m} \cdot \frac{1}{\det \mathbf{R}_r} \frac{x^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} \left\{ \frac{1}{(c\rho)^m} \cdot \frac{1}{\det \mathbf{R}_r} \cdot \frac{x^m}{m!} \right\}^{L_t - N} \\ \times \left\{ \int_x^\infty e^{-st} \left[\frac{1}{(c\rho)^m \det \mathbf{R}_r} \cdot \frac{t^{m-1}}{(m-1)!} + o(t^{m-1}) \right] dt \right\}^{N-1} dx$$
(5.56)

We ignore the $o(t^{m-1})$ term and use (5.51), thus

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = N \binom{L_t}{N} \frac{m^N}{(c\rho)^{L_t m} [\det \mathbf{R}_r]^{L_t} (m!)^{L_t}} \\ \times \int_0^\infty e^{-Nsx} x^{r(L_t - N + 1) - 1} \frac{1}{s^{m(N-1)}} \left[\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{(sx)^k}{k!} \right]^{N-1} dx, \qquad (5.57)$$

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

in which a_j is the coefficient of x^j , j = 0, 1, ..., (m-1)(N-1), in the expansion

$$\left[\sum_{k=0}^{m-1} \frac{(sx)^k}{k!}\right]^{N-1}.$$
(5.58)

Thus, inserting the above definition into the MGF expressions, we get

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = N \binom{L_t}{N} \frac{m^N}{(c\rho)^{L_t m} [\det \mathbf{R}_r]^{L_t} (m!)^{L_t}} \frac{1}{s^{m(N-1)}} \\ \times \sum_{j=0}^{(m-1)(N-1)} \int_0^\infty e^{-Nsx} a_j s^j x^{m(L_t-N+1)+j-1} dx, \qquad (5.59)$$

and therefore MGF can be approximated as

$$\Phi_{\gamma_b}(s) = N \binom{L_t}{N} \frac{m^N}{(c\rho)^{L_t m} [\det \mathbf{R}_r]^{L_t} (m!)^{L_t} N^{m(L_t - N + 1)}} \frac{1}{s^{L_t m}} \\ \times \sum_{j=0}^{(m-1)(N-1)} \frac{a_j [m(L_t - N + 1) + j - 1]!}{N^j}$$
(5.60)

For the simplicity of the expression, we define

$$\Lambda = \sum_{j=0}^{(m-1)(N-1)} \frac{a_j \left[m(L_t - N + 1) + j - 1\right]!}{N^j}$$
(5.61)

which is a parameter depends on m, N, L_t . The comparison between (5.60) and (4.21) reveals that

$$b = \frac{N\binom{L_t}{N}m^N\Lambda(c\rho)^{-L_tm}}{[\det \mathbf{R}_r]^{L_t}(m!)^{L_t}N^{m(L_t-N+1)}}$$
$$d = mL_t \tag{5.62}$$

If we substitute the approximated MGF into (2.18) then

$$P_{M}(\rho) \simeq \frac{2N\binom{L_{t}}{N}}{M\log_{2}M} \cdot \frac{m^{N}\Lambda(c\rho)^{-L_{t}m}}{[\det \mathbf{R}_{r}]^{L_{t}}(m!)^{L_{t}}N^{m(L_{t}-N+1)}} \sum_{n=1}^{\log_{2}M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}} B_{i}I_{mL_{t}}\left(D_{i}^{2}c\rho/2\right)$$
(5.63)

where $I_m(\mu)$ has been defined in (4.33). Note that

$$\lim_{\mu \to \infty} I_p(\mu) = {\binom{2p}{p}} \frac{1}{2^{2p+1}} \frac{1}{\mu^p}$$
(5.64)

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Thus

$$\lim_{\rho \to \infty} P_M(\rho) = \frac{2N\binom{L_t}{N}m^N}{M\log_2 M} \cdot \frac{\Lambda}{[\det \mathbf{R}_r]^{L_t}(m!)^{L_t}N^{m(L_t-N+1)}} \times \frac{\binom{2mL_t}{mL_t}}{2^{2mL_t+1}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\log_2 M} \sum_{i=0}^{k_n} \frac{B_i}{D_i^{2mL_t}}\right) \frac{1}{(c\rho)^{mL_t}}$$
(5.65)

shows that

$$G_{c} = \left\{ \frac{2N\binom{L_{t}}{N}m^{N}}{M\log_{2}M} \cdot \frac{\Lambda}{[\det \mathbf{R}_{r}]^{L_{t}}(m!)^{L_{t}}N^{m(L_{t}-N+1)}} \times \frac{\binom{2mL_{t}}{mL_{t}}}{2^{2mL_{t}+1}c^{mL_{t}}} \left(\sum_{n=1}^{\log_{2}M}\sum_{i=0}^{k_{n}}\frac{B_{i}}{D_{i}^{2mL_{t}}} \right) \right\}^{-\frac{1}{G_{d}}},$$

$$G_{d} = mL_{t}.$$
(5.66)

are the coding gain and diversity order. Therefore, if N antennas corresponding to the largest received SNR, or γ_b , are selected, and the receive correlation matrix is full rank then full diversity order of $L_r L_t$ is obtained.

5.5 Conclusion

This chapter analyzed the performance of OSTBCs with transmit antenna selection in receive correlated Rayleigh fading channels. The exact BER for M-PAM and M-QAM and an approximate BER for M-PSK were derived. Our results are sufficiently general to handle an arbitrary number of antennas and specially for correlated fading channels. We also derived the BER for the constant receiver correlation. The asymptotic performance of the system has been derived. The diversity order and coding gain of system is found. Thus, full diversity is achieved through transmit antenna selection in receive correlated fading channels.



Figure 5.2: Comparison between the exact expression, approximation and simulation for N = 2 transmit antenna selection out of $L_t = 3, 4$ with $L_r = 2$ correlated receive antennas, 16-QAM.



Figure 5.3: Comparison of the performance between different correlation parameter r for N = 2 transmit antenna selection out of $L_t = 3$ with $L_r = 2$ correlated receive antennas, 16-QAM.



Figure 5.4: Comparison between different correlation parameter r for N = 2 transmit antenna selection out of $L_t = 3$ with $L_r = 2$ correlated receive antennas and two approximation of performance, using 16-QAM constellations

Chapter 6 Conclusions and Future Work

The performance of transmit antenna selection with OSTBC in MIMO wireless systems is derived for Rayleigh fading channels without correlation and with receive correlation. Transmit antenna selection gives the better performance and achieves full diversity while reducing the number of RF chains and consequently cost and complexity of system.

In Chapter 2, MIMO wireless systems are introduced. OSTBCs is reviewed and preliminaries for performance analysis of system is presented. In Chapter 3, antenna selection scheme is discussed. The motivations for antenna selection and the recent works are reviewed. There are two main antenna selection criteria, one is based on capacity maximization to achieve the full rate of transmission which leads to spatial multiplexing techniques such as V-BLAST. Minimizing the error rate is another scheme to select transmit antennas. Minimizing probability of error in systems using OSTBCs leads to selecting antennas with the highest received SNR. Maximizing SNR needs selection of antennas which have largest norms of corresponding columns in the MIMO channel matrix.

Chapter 4 studies the performance of OSTBCs with transmit antenna selection in independent Rayleigh fading channels. Exact closed-form BER expressions are derived, which also lead to approximations. The diversity order and coding gain are obtained exactly. We show that a system using any number of transmit antennas and sends OSTBCs over them achieves full diversity.

In Chapter 5, the performance of transmit antenna selection is analyzed for channels with receive correlation. Despite the receive correlation, the received SNRs from transmit antennas are independent. Thus order statistic results can be used in performance analysis of transmit antenna selection. The approximations and coding gain and diversity order of system are derived from the exact form BER expression. Order statistics for correlated variables are not available in the literature at this time thus deriving performance for fading channels with transmit correlation appears impossible.

As a result, transmit antenna selection with OSTBCs achieves full diversity and gives better performance and lower complexity rather than no selection, with the expense of minimal number feedback bits.

Although we derived the performance analysis of transmit antenna selection for receive correlated channels, no performance analysis is available for the transmit correlated case. Studying the performance of transmit antenna selection leads to future system designs to get better performance.

The only known optimum antenna selection in capacity based criteria is exhaustive search. Thus proposing suboptimum and fast selection algorithms with lower complexity is a topic of current and future research.

Transmit antenna selection is only one of the adaptive antenna systems using low rate feedback from receiver to design system and signaling at the transmitter to get better performance. Other adaptive antenna methods are of interest.

68

Bibliography

- G. J. Foschini and M. J. Gans, "On limits of wireless communications in a fading environment when using multiple antennas," *Wireless Personal Communications*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 311–335, Mar. 1998.
- [2] E. Telatar, "Capacity of multi-antenna Gaussian channels," *Euro. Trans. Telecommun.*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 585–595, 1999.
- [3] E. G. Larsson and P. Stoica, Space-time Block Coding for Wireless Communications. Cambridge University Press, 2003.
- [4] S. Alamouti, "A simple transmit diversity technique for wireless communications," *IEEE J. Select. Areas Commun.*, vol. 16, pp. 1451–1458, Oct. 1998.
- [5] V. Tarokh, H. Jafarkhani, and A. Calderbank, "Space-time block codes from orthogonal designs," *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory*, vol. 45, pp. 1456– 1467, July 1999.
- [6] A. Paulraj, R. Nabar, and D. Gore, Introduction to Space-Time Wireless Communications. Cambridge, United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press, May 2003.
- [7] V. Tarokh, H. Jafarkhani, and A. Calderbank, "Space-time block coding for wireless communications: performance results," *IEEE J. Select. Areas Commun.*, vol. 17, pp. 451–460, Mar. 1999.

- [8] H. Holma and A. Toskala, WCDMA for UMTS. John Wiley and Sons, 2000.
- [9] IEEE 802.16 Standard, Part 16: Air Interface for Fixed Broadband Wireless Access Systems, October 2004.
- [10] D. A. Gore and A. J. Paulraj, "MIMO antenna subset selection with space-time coding," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 50, pp. 2580– 2588, Oct. 2002.
- [11] A. F. Molisch and M. Z. Win, "MIMO systems with antenna selection," *IEEE Microwave Mag.*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 46–56, Mar. 2004.
- [12] A. Annamalai, G. K. Deora, and C. Tellambura, "Theoretical diversity improvement in GSC(N,L) receiver with nonidentical fading statistics," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 53, pp. 1027–1035, June 2005.
- [13] J. P. Kermoal, L. Schumacher, K. I. Pedersen, P. E. Mogensen, and F. Frederiksen, "A stochastic MIMO radio channel model with experimental validation," *IEEE J. Select. Areas Commun.*, vol. 20, no. 6, pp. 1211–1226, Aug. 2002.
- [14] K. Yu, M. Bengtsson, B. Ottersten, D. McNamara, P. Karlsson, and M. Beach, "Second order statistics of NLOS indoor MIMO channels based on 5.2 GHz measurements," *IEEE Global Telecommn. Conf. (GLOBE-COM)*, vol. 1, pp. 156–160, 2001.
- [15] D. Chizhik, J. Ling, P. W. Wolniansky, R. A. Valenzuela, N. Costa, and K. Huber, "Multiple-input-multiple-output measurements and modeling in manhattan," *IEEE J. Select. Areas Commun.*, vol. 21, no. 3, pp. 321– 331, 2003.

- [16] H. Ozcelik, M. Herdin, W. Weichselberger, J. Wallace, and E. Bonek, "Deficiencies of 'kronecker' mimo radio channel model," *Electronics Letters*, vol. 39, no. 16, pp. 1209–1210, 2003.
- [17] J. G. Proakis, *Digital Communications*, 4th ed. New York: McGraw Hill, 2000.
- [18] G. Caire, G. Taricco, and E. Biglieri, "Bit-interleaved coded modulation," *IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory*, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 927–946, May 1998.
- [19] K. Cho and D. Yoon, "On the general BER expression of one- and twodimensional amplitude modulations," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 50, pp. 1074–1080, July 2002.
- [20] J. Lu, K. B. Letaief, J. C. Chuang, and M. L. Liou, "M-PSK and M-QAM BER computation using signal-space concepts," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 47, pp. 181–184, Feb. 1999.
- [21] Z. Wang and G. Giannakis, "A simple and general parameterization quantifying performance in fading channels," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 51, pp. 1389–1398, 2003.
- [22] B. Hassibi and H. Vikalo, "On the expected complexity of integer leastsquares problems," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), vol. 2, pp. 1497–1500, 2002.
- [23] G. Ganesan and P. Stoica, "Space-time diversity using orthogonal and amicable orthogonal designs," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), vol. 5, pp. 2561–2564, 2000.
- [24] —, "Space-time block codes: A maximum SNR approach," IEEE Trans. Inform. Theory, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 1650–1656, 2001.

- [25] G. J. Foschini, "Layered space-time architecture for wireless communication in a fading environment when using multi-element antennas," *Bell Labs Technical Journal*, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 41–59, 1996.
- [26] B. Hassibi and H. Vikalo, "On the expected complexity of sphere decoding," Asilomar Conference on Signals, Syst., Compt., vol. 2, pp. 1051– 1055, 2001.
- [27] P. Wolniansky, G. Foschini, G. Golden, and R. Valenzuela, "V-BLAST: an architecture for realizing very high data rates over the rich-scattering wireless channel," Int. Symposium on Signals, Systems, and Electronics (URSI), pp. 295–300, 1998.
- [28] C. E. Shannon, "The mathematical theory of communication," Bell Syst. Tech. J., vol. 27, pp. 379–423, 1948.
- [29] H. A. David, Order Statistics, 2nd ed. New York : Wiley, 1981.
- [30] R. S. Blum and J. H. Winters, "On optimum MIMO with antenna selection," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 6, pp. 322–324, 2002.
- [31] R. H. D. Gore and A. Paulraj, "Transmit selection in spatial multiplexing systems," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 491–493, 2002.
- [32] S. Sanayei and A. Nosratinia, "Asymptotic capacity gain of transmit antenna selection," Proc. IEEE Int. Symp. on Infor. Theory (ISIT), June 2004.
- [33] D. A. Gore, R. U. Nabar, and A. Paulraj, "Selecting an optimal set of transmit antennas for a low rank matrix channel," *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP)*, vol. 5, pp. 2785–2788, 2000.

- [34] N. Kong, T. Eng, and L. B. Milstein, "A selection combining scheme for rake receivers," in *Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. on Universal Personal Commun.* (*ICUPC*). IEEE, 1995, pp. 426–430.
- [35] A. F. Molisch, M. Z. Win, Y.-S. Choi, and J. H. Winters, "Capacity of MIMO systems with antenna selection," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 1759–1771, 2005.
- [36] S. Sanayei and A. Nosratinia, "Antenna selection in MIMO systems," *IEEE Commun. Mag.*, vol. 42, no. 10, pp. 68–73, Oct. 2004.
- [37] R. W. Heath Jr. and D. J. Love, "Multimode antenna selection for spatial multiplexing systems with linear receivers," *IEEE Trans. Signal Process*ing, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 3042–3056, 2005.
- [38] A. F. Molisch, M. Z. Win, and J. H. Winter, "Reduced-complexity transmit/receive-diversity systems," *IEEE Trans. Signal Processing*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 2729–2738, 2003.
- [39] S. Sandhu, A. Paulraj, R. U. Nabar, and D. A. Gore, Method and apparatus for selection and use of optimal antennas in wireless systems. U. S. Patent 6 917 820, July 2005.
- [40] D. Gore, R. Nabar, and A. Paulraj, "Selecting an optimal set of transmit antennas for a low rank matrix channel," Proc. IEEE Int. Conf. Acoustics, Speech, and Signal Processing (ICASSP), vol. 5, pp. 2785–2788, 2000.
- [41] S. Sandhu, R. Nabar, D. Gore, and A. Paulraj, "Near-optimal selection of transmit antennas for a MIMO channel based on shannon capacity," *Asilomar Conf. on Signals, Systems and computers*, vol. 1, pp. 567–571, 2000.

- [42] L. Dai, S. Sfar, and K. Letaief, "Optimal antenna selection based on capacity maximization for MIMO systems in correlated channels," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 54, pp. 563–573, Mar. 2006.
- [43] R. Narasimhan, "Transmit antenna selection based on outage probability for correlated MIMO multiple access channels," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 5, pp. 2945–2955, Oct. 2006.
- [44] G. K. Karagiannidis, "Performance analysis of SIR-based dual selection diversity over correlated Nakagami-m fading channels," *IEEE Trans. Veh. Technol.*, vol. 52, pp. 1207–1216, Sept. 2003.
- [45] V. A. Aalo and T. Piboongungon, "On the multivariate generalized gamma distribution with exponential correlation," *IEEE Global Telecommn. Conf. (GLOBECOM)*, vol. 3, pp. 1229–1233, Dec. 2005.
- [46] Q. T. Zhang and H. G. Lu, "A general analytical approach to multi-branch selection combining over various spatially correlated fading channels," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 50, pp. 1066–1073, July 2002.
- [47] N. C. Sagias, G. K. Karagiannidis, D. A. Zogas, P. T. Mathiopoulos, and G. S. Tombras, "Performance analysis of dual selection diversity in correlated Weibull fading channels," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 52, pp. 1063–1067, July 2004.
- [48] Y. Chen and C. Tellambura, "Distribution functions of selection combiner output in equally correlated Rayleigh, Rician, and Nakagami-m fading channels," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 52, no. 11, pp. 1948–1956, Nov. 2004.
- [49] ——, "Performance analysis of L-branch equal gain combiners in equally correlated Rayleigh fading channels," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 150–152, Mar. 2004.

- [50] , "Performance analysis of three-branch selection combining over arbitrarily correlated Rayleigh-fading channels," *IEEE Trans. Wireless Commun.*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 861–865, Apr. 2005.
- [51] D. J. Love, "On the probability of error of antenna-subset selection with space-time block codes," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 53, pp. 1799–1803, Nov. 2005.
- [52] Z. Chen, "Asymptotic performance of transmit antenna selection with maximal-ratio combining for generalized selection criterion," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 8, pp. 247–249, Apr. 2005.
- [53] X. Cai and G. B. Giannakis, "Performance analysis of combined transmit selection diversity and receive generalized selection combining in Rayleigh fading channels," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 3, pp. 1980–1983, Nov. 2004.
- [54] Z. Chen, J. Yuan, B. Vucetic, and Z. Zhou, "Performance of Alamouti scheme with transmit antenna selection," *IEE Elect. Lett.*, vol. 39, pp. 1666–1668, Nov. 2003.
- [55] —, "Performance of Alamouti scheme with transmit antenna selection," IEEE Int. Symposium on Personal, Indoor and Mobile Radio Commun. (PIMRC), vol. 2, pp. 1135–1141, Sept. 2004.
- [56] Z. Chen, B. Vucetic, and J. Yuan, "Asymptotic performance of space-time block codes with imperfect transmit antenna selection," *IEE Elect. Lett.*, vol. 41, pp. 538–540, Apr. 2005.
- [57] A. F. Molisch, M. Z. Win, and J. H. Winters, "Capacity of MIMO systems with antenna selection," Int. Conf. on Commun.Systems (ICCS), vol. 2, pp. 570–574, 2001.

- [58] Y. Ma and C. C. Chai, "Unified error probability analysis for generalized selection combining in Nakagami fading channels," *IEEE J. Select. Areas Commun.*, vol. 18, pp. 2198–2210, Nov. 2000.
- [59] S. Kaviani and C. Tellambura, "Closed-form BER analysis for antenna selection using orthogonal space-time block codes," *IEEE Commun. Lett.*, vol. 10, pp. 704–706, Oct. 2006.
- [60] ——, "Closed-form BER performance analysis for antenna selection using orthogonal space-time block codes," Proc. IEEE Vehicular Technology Conf. (VTC), Sept. 2006.
- [61] M. K. Simon and M.-S. Alouini, Digital Communication over Fading Channels: A unified approach to performance analysis, 1st ed. New York: Wiley, 2000.
- [62] I. S. Gradshteyn and I. M. Ryzhik, Table of Integrals, Series, and Products, 5th ed. Academic Press, Inc., 1994.
- [63] M. S. Alouini and M. K. Simon, "An MGF-based performance analysis of generalized selection combining over Rayleigh fading channels," *IEEE Trans. Commun.*, vol. 48, pp. 401–415, Mar. 2000.
- [64] S. Kouachi, "Eigenvalues and eigenvectors of tridiagonal matrices," *Electron. J. Linear Algebra*, vol. 15, pp. 115–133, Apr. 2006.
- [65] S. Kotz and J. W. Adams, "Distribution of sum of identically distributed exponentially correlated Gamma-variables," *The Annals of Mathematical Statistics*, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 277–283, Mar. 1964.